CORPORATE COMMITTEE
Date: Thursday 8 April 2021
Time: 6.30 pm
Venue:

Microsoft Teams

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov
Members of the Committee
Councillor Scott Ainslie, Councillor Peter Ely, Councillor Adrian Garden (Chair), Councillor Maria Kay and
Councillor Iain Simpson

Substitute Members
Councillor Mary Atkins, Councillor Linda Bray, Councillor Nanda Manley-Browne and Councillor Martin
Tiedemann
Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Wayne Chandai, email: wchandai@lambeth.gov.uk
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting. If you have any specific needs please contact
Facilities Management (020 7926 1010) in advance.

Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth
Lambeth Council – Democracy Live on Facebook http://www.facebook.com/

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING
Page
Nos.

1.

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
Under Standing Order 4.4, where any councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct (para. 4))
in any matter to be considered at a meeting of the Council, a committee,
sub-committee or joint committee, they must withdraw from the meeting
room during the whole of the consideration of that matter and must not
participate in any vote on that matter unless a dispensation has been
obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

2.

Boundary Commission

1 - 104

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

CORPORATE COMMITTEE 8 APRIL 2021
Report title: Ward Boundary Review – Lambeth Council Response to Second Stage of
Consultation by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Andrew Travers, Chief Executive and Returning Officer
Contact for enquiries: Tasnim Shawkat, Director, Legal and Governance,
tshawkat@lambeth.gov.uk

Report summary
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), an independent body set up by
Parliament, is undertaking an electoral review of Lambeth. An electoral review is an examination of a
Council’s electoral arrangements. The review is undertaken in two stages. The Council is now set to
reply to Stage Two:
Stage One
 the total number of councillors elected to the local authority (Council size).
Stage Two
 the number and boundaries of wards or divisions for the purposes of the election of councillors;
 the number of councillors for any ward or division of a local authority; and,
 the name of any ward or division.
The LGBCE’s review does not include Parliamentary or borough boundaries. The Council is recommended
to agree the attached submission to the LGBCE in response to its Draft Recommendations for consultation
as part of Stage Two.

Finance summary
The report recommends a response to the consultation. If the Council’s proposals were to be accepted
there may be a need for additional polling stations and staff; the costs of which are outlined in section 3.

Recommendations
1.

To approve the submission to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE)
by the deadline of 12 April 2021 (Appendix A).
1

Page 2
2.

To delegate authority to the Head of Democratic Services and Director, Legal and Governance in
consultation with Councillor Jim Dickson to agree any minor amendments to the proposed scheme
arising from any comments.

Special Circumstances Justifying Urgent Consideration
The Chair is of the opinion that although this report had not been available for at least five clear days
before the meeting, it should be considered as a matter of urgency because it is not possible to delay the
response to the Boundary Commission until after the next Corporate Committee meeting as the deadline
for submission is on the 12 April 2021.

2

Page 3
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is undertaking an electoral
review of Lambeth. The Commission conducts an electoral review of a council for two reasons:
1)
2)

At the request of the local authority; or,
If the local authority meets the Commission’s intervention criteria that is:
a.
If one ward has an electorate of +/-30% from the average electorate for the authority; or,
b.
If 30% of all wards have an electorate of +/-10% from the average electorate for the
authority.

1.2

The LGBCE is undertaking this review because Lambeth meets the Commission’s criteria for
electoral inequality, in that Bishops Ward in March 2020 only had 7,615 electors, a negative variance
of -35% from the average of number for each ward of three councillors of 11,649. In addition, three
wards: Coldharbour, Larkhall and Thornton have a positive variance of over 10%. It has also been
more than 20 years since the last review, which reported in June 1999, and resulted in the reduction
in the number of councillors by one and all wards having three members. Appendix 1 to the
submission set out the electoral variance in March 2020, as previously submitted in Stage One.

1.3

An electoral review examines existing electoral arrangements and proposes changes for the whole
local authority and has two distinct stages:

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

Stage One - Complete
The total number of councillors to be elected to the Council: council size. The Council agreed its
response to the Commission’s consultation in February 2020, recommending that the number of
councillors should remain the same at 63. On 14 July the LGBCE launched Stage Two of the
review and also notified the Returning Officer that it was minded to recommend to Parliament
that Lambeth retain 63 councillors.
Stage Two – In Progress
The names, number and boundaries of wards and the number of councillors to be elected from
each ward. There are two parts to Stage Two:
Part 1 - 14 July to 21 September 2020 - Complete
The LGBCE invited proposals from the Council, interested parties and members of the public on a
pattern of electoral wards based on 63 councillors. At that stage anyone could make a submission
to LGBCE which considered all evidence, whoever it is from, and whether it applied to the whole of
Lambeth or just a small part.
Once the first stage of consultation ended, the LGBCE drafted recommendations for new warding
patterns which balanced the three statutory criteria below (Appendix B):




1.8

To deliver electoral equality where each councillor represents roughly the same number of
electors as others across the borough.
That the pattern of wards should, as far as possible, reflect the interests and identities of
local communities; and,
That the electoral arrangements should provide for effective and convenient local
government.

Part 2 - 5 February to 12 April 2021 – In Progress
The LGBCE has published a Draft Recommendations showcasing a revised ward pattern and has
launched a further round of consultation. Its final recommendations will be published on 29 June
3

Page 4
2021 and will be laid before Parliament for 45 days before being adopted. The outcome of the
review will be implemented for the May 2022 council elections.
1.9

The proposed consultation response is being presented to Corporate Committee on the 8th April
2021, as it is one of the bodies responsible for the discharge of the Council’s functions in relation to
elections (Constitution, Part 2, How the Council Makes Decisions, Corporate Committee, page 30,
Rule 13). The deadline for submission to the LGBCE is the 12th April 2021.

1.10 The submission was produced by the cross-party Member Working Group. However, cross party
agreement on the final proposals for revisions to the LGBCE borough wide map was not reached.
This does not prevent individual political groups, individual councillors or members of the public
from making submissions in response to this consultation. The LGBCE seeks and welcomes as
wide a range of views as possible

2.

PROPOSAL AND REASONS

2.1

Lambeth’s submission to the LGBCE, which is a warding pattern based on 63 councillors,
recognises that there is a clear need for review, and that changes are required as demonstrated by
the table showing electoral variances (Appendix 1). It considers the LGBCE’s statutory criteria
(electoral equality; community identity and effective and convenient local government) and
presents a balanced response to them. Lambeth’s proposals are based on: LGBCE’s Draft
Recommendation (Appendix B), analysis of electoral data, building developments and our
knowledge of established communities in the borough. In the view of the majority of the Member
Working Group, Chief Executive and Returning Officer, Lambeth’s proposals fully meet the
statutory criteria while also presenting a representative and holistic warding design based on our
assessment of community needs and future council size.

2.2

According to the LGBCE’s requirements the Council needed to base its warding pattern on the
anticipated electorate in 2026 (five years after the recommendations of the LGBCE are due to be
published). The estimated electorate in 2026 is 256,560 giving an average of 4,072 electors per
councillor. In March 2020 we had an electorate of 244,634 giving an average of 3,883 electors per
councillor. Appendix 1 to the submission.

2.3

The projected electorate for 2026 was calculated for each polling district using a tool supplied by
the LGBCE. This analysed the electorate for 2018-20 and made a calculation based on a formula
from the Office for National Statistics. Those calculations were supplemented by figures for
additional electors which would result from new developments across the borough which the
Planning Directorate anticipate being occupied by 2026. As the LGBCE formula is designed to
take account of new developments which would produce up to 30 electors we only added
information about development which would yield 30 or more electors. We calculated that our
current residential unit to elector ratio is 1:6 and therefore any developments of 19 units or over
which would yield 30 or more electors were included in the calculations. A more detailed
explanation of this calculation is set out in Appendix 2 of the submission, along with additional
reasoning which now challenges LGBCE’s forecasted electorate figures.

2.4

2.5

Proposed Scheme
A cross-party Member Working Group, chaired by Councillor Jim Dickson, was set up to consider
matters relating to the final consultation. Similar to Stage One, the Council utilised the programme,
StatMap, to provide an interactive map which showed the new ward boundaries and names for the
projected electorate for 2026 as well as respond to the LGBCE’s re-drawn of the wards.
The map of the proposed scheme which is being recommended for agreement by the Corporate
Committee is in Appendix 5.
4

Page 5
2.6

The proposed scheme adheres to the LGBCE’s statutory criteria:




2.7

To deliver electoral equality where each councillor represents roughly the same number of
electors as others across the borough;
That the pattern of wards should, as far as possible, reflect the interests and identities of
local communities; and,
That the electoral arrangements should provide for effective and convenient local
government.

Utilising LGBCE’s Draft Recommendations (Appendix B), the Working Group recommends 4 key
changes to the ward boundaries proposed by LGBCE. This proposal shows 23 wards in
comparison to LGBCE’s 26 proposed wards. The key changes aim to balance the electorate
variance, provide a wider ward councillor coverage and a more holistic representation of the
communities in those key areas.
The proposal recommends changes to the following key areas as they are currently known:
1) Thornton, Brixton Hill, and Streatham Hill – agreed with LGBCE to expand ward boundaries to
created wards Clapham Park and Thornton
2) Clapham Common, Larkhall, and Stockwell – amended LGBCE proposed boundaries and
names to merge and create wards Clapham Common and Stockwell East & Landor
3) Streatham Hill and Thurlow Park – agreed with LGBCE proposed ward names, but merge two
of the proposed wards to create Streatham Hill & St Martin’s and Rosendale
4) Streatham South & Streatham Wells – merged two LGBCE proposed wards and changed the
ward names to create Streatham Common & The Vale, and Streatham Wells

2.8

Along with the aforementioned changes to ward boundaries and ward names, the council is
amending the number of councillors per ward. Specifically, the council is once more arguing
against one-member wards. The proposal reasons that wards reliant upon a single part-time
councillor carry much greater vulnerability due to the lack of availability of their representative due
to family or work responsibilities, illness or incapacitation than those represented by two or three
members.

2.9

A full explanation of the proposed changes and the reasons for them is attached in the submission
(Appendix A)

Parliamentary Boundary Review
2.10 A Parliamentary boundary review has officially started (2021) and will be completed by July 2023.
It is based on the number of electors on 1 March 2020. The number of MPs will be fixed at 650
and the 2018 review will not be implemented. The review will be based on the current ward
boundaries as they are on 1 December 2020. It should be noted, that the LGBCE does not take
account of Parliamentary constituency boundaries.
2.11 Lambeth’s current constituency boundaries run along existing ward boundaries. The proposed
ward boundaries do cross some existing constituency boundaries as to do otherwise would have
required us to follow existing ward boundaries, which in turn would have restricted our efforts to
best follow the LGBCE’s statutory criteria. If the proposed Parliamentary boundaries are not coterminus with the final recommendations of the LGBCE the Council will be able to respond to
consultation to ask that the new ward boundaries are followed.

5

Page 6
3.

FINANCE

3.1

The report recommends a response to a consultation about ward boundaries. Following the
publication by the LGBCE of its final recommendation for the ward boundaries in June 2021 the
Council will undertake a polling district and station review. This may potentially identify the need for
additional polling stations. The Council does pay a hire charge for polling stations and also pays staff
on duty. The current payment for three staff at a polling station is £1,048.

3.2

As it is proposed for the number of Members to remain unchanged, there are no additional Member
related costs anticipated.

4.

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.1

There are no specific legal implications arising as a direct result of this report.

4.2

There were no additional comments from Democratic Services.

5.

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

5.1

The report recommends agreement of the Council’s response to the LGBCE’s consultation. This
was prepared by the cross-party Member Working Group though it was not possible to reach
cross-party agreement on the final proposals. Information about the consultation will be sent to the
Borough Commander for Lambeth as the Safer Neighbourhood Teams for the police are organised
by ward.

5.2

The Council is required by the LGBCE to help publicise its consultation. The Council is required to
send out information to its stakeholders and display the LGBCE’s posters in its public buildings.
The Council made a proposal to the LGBCE setting out how it could support an online briefing and
the public engagement events. A Lambeth Council hosted virtual engagement event was held as
part of Stage Two of the consultation. The briefing was well attended and also had over 300 views.
A recording of the meeting is available online. The publicity from Lambeth has included an email
to all of the 17,500 stakeholders on our distribution list, an article in Lambeth Talk, information on
the elections and consultation pages on the website and various social media posts.

6.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

None.

7.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

There is not expected to be any negative impacts on the electorate as the review is undertaken in
order to decrease the electoral variance between wards. An EQIA was completed at Stage one of
the Consultation.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

There are no specific implications arising from this report. The Metropolitan Police’s Safer
Neighbourhood Teams are established on a ward basis. Information about the consultation has
been sent to Lambeth’s Borough Commander.

6

Page 7
9.

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None.

9.2

Health
None.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None.

9.4

9.5

Staffing and accommodation
As set out in paragraph 3, a polling district and polling station review will take place once the
Commission’s final recommendations are published in June 2021. This may result in additional
polling stations and additional polling staff being required on the day of poll.
Responsible Procurement
None.

10. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
10.1 The below list sets out key deadlines for this report:







14 July to 21 September: LGBCE consultation on Stage 1;
5 February 2021: publication of LGBCE’s draft proposals;
6 February to 12 April 2021: LGBCE consultation on Stage 2;
29 June 2021: Publication of final recommendations;
Summer / Autumn 2021: Parliamentary order made; and,
May 2022: borough council elections.

7

Page 8
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name and Position/Title
Councillor Jim Dickson
Bayo Dosunmu
Strategic Director for
Resident Services
Nisar Visram, Assistant
Director, Corporate
Finance
Tasnim Shawkat, Director
of Legal & Governance
Wayne Chandai, Head of
CE’s Office and
Democratic Services
Chris John, Electoral
Services Manager

Lambeth Directorate

Date Sent

Date
Received

Cabinet Member for Health and
Social Care

06.04.21

06.04.21

Chief Executive

06.04.21

06.04.21

Finance and Property

06.04.21

06.04.21

Legal and Governance

06.04.21

06.04.21

Legal and Governance

29.03.21

06.04.21

Legal and Governance

06.04.21

06.04.21

Comments in
paragraph:

Finance point
3.2 added

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline

05.02.21
29.03.21

Date final report sent

06.04.21

Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?

No

Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons

No
Not applicable
Not applicable.

Background information

Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009,

Appendices

Appendix A – Submission to LGBCE
Appendix B – LGBCE Draft Recommendations
Appendix 1 – 2020 Electorate and 2026 Projected
Electorate
Appendix 2 – Lambeth’s Electorate Forecasting
Methodology
Appendix 3 – Map of Lambeth’s current wards
Appendix 4 – Map of LGBCE’S Proposed Wards &
names
Appendix 5 – Map of Lambeth’s Proposed Wards &
names

8

Page 9

Electoral Review
Stage Two – Warding Arrangements, Name Changes, & Councillor Changes
Submission to Local Government Boundary Commission for England
(April 2021)

Page 10
Contents
1

Executive Summary

2

2

Scope of the Review

3

3

Public Consultation

3

4

Increasing Population Electorate Forecasting

4

5

Single and multiple member wards

4

6

Borough Profile

6

Proposals

8

7

Key Area 1: Clapham & Stockwell
Key Area 2: Clapham Park & Thornton
Key Area 3: St Martin’s & Rosendale
Key Area 4: Streatham

Appendices
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Page

2020 Electorate and Projected 2026 Electorate
Electorate Forecasting Methodology & Research
Map of the Existing Wards
LGBCE Proposed Wards & Names
Lambeth Council Proposed Wards & Names

1

10
13
16
19

Page 11
1.

Executive Summary

1.1

The submission was produced by the cross-party Member Working Group. However, cross party
agreement on the final proposals for revisions to the LGBCE borough wide map was not reached. This
does not prevent individual political groups, individual councillors or members of the public from
making submissions in response to this consultation. The LGBCE seeks and welcomes as wide a
range of views as possible.

1.2

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is currently undertaking an
Electoral Review of the London Borough of Lambeth due to current electoral imbalances across the
borough. New electoral arrangements are scheduled to come into effect at the Borough Council
Elections in May 2022.

1.3

Following the first stage of the review to determine Council Size (the number of councillors) the
Council welcomes the LGBCE’s announcement that it is likely to recommend to Parliament that the
Council’s submission that the number of councillors remain at 63 be accepted.

1.4

This second stage is to address the current electoral imbalance issues, as well as the warding
arrangements to ensure the wards reflect the current and emerging community identities and
represented by the appropriate number of councillors. The last Electoral Review was undertaken in
1999. At that time the electorate was 183,695 with a projected increase to 192,103 in 2003. On 1
March 2020 the electorate was 244,634 with a predicted increase to 256,560 in 2026 (five years after
the LGBCE publishes its final recommendations); this means that every councillor should represent an
average of 4,072 electors.

1.5

The Council welcomes the opportunity to submit a response to the Commission’s Draft
Recommendation. This document, which is Lambeth’s formal submission, sets out the Council’s
proposed amends to the Draft Recommendations published by LGBCE on 5 Feb 2021. The
submission provides an explanation for the proposed boundaries by highlighting local amenities,
electorate variances and representation of local communities. It also puts forward names for the new
wards.

1.6

In total 23 wards are proposed. 17 wards have three councillors and the remaining six wards have two
councillors.

2

Page 12
2.

Scope of the Review

2.1

The review being undertaken by the LGBCE covers the entire area of the London Borough of
Lambeth. The review was initiated in June 2019 and dealt first with the preliminary stage which was to
determine the future size of the Council (specifically the number of elected Councillors who will form
the Council from 2022). This phase was completed in February 2020 following a delay caused by the
unexpected General Election in December 2019. The start of this second stage of consultation was
also delayed from May to July 2020 due to the outbreak of Covid-19. In this part of the process, the
Council is one of the stakeholders consulted about re-warding proposals; specifically identifying
proposals for ward boundaries (and associated relevant considerations such as the number of wards
and the number of members within each ward) which need to meet three statutory criteria the LGBCE
must comply with when making its proposals:




3.

The need to secure electoral equality (a consistent number of electors per councillor);
Community identity (strong ward boundaries that reflect communities); and.
Securing effective and convenient local government (coherent wards).

Public Consultation

3.1

LGBCE relies on the Council to publicise the review and inform all local stakeholders which wish to
input to the review. Stage Two of the review was publicised virtually via social media platforms and
email campaigns, as well as in local magazine publications.

3.2

The Council set out a case to the LGBCE to move forward with the engagement, detailing how it
would publicise and host an online engagement event meeting. Members from LGBCE were invited to
attend.

3.3

For the Stage Two event the Council invited all stakeholders which previously attended the
engagement events during Stage One. In addition, the event was widely publicised using social media
with regular updates on Twitter and the Voluntary Services Network platforms. Furthermore, the
Council emailed over 17,500 stakeholders on our database. Information about the review appeared in
Lambeth Talk, the borough wide free newsletter. Information also appeared in Love Lambeth and the
Elections and Consultation webpages.

3.4

The online briefing meeting was held on 11 March had over 300 view which is a higher figure than
those usually attending public briefings. Members of LGBCE attended and were able to answer
attendees’ questions in regards to the Draft Recommendations and how to submit a new report. The
question and answer session produced a high number of good quality questions. The Council is
greatful for LGBCE’s participation and ability to showcase objectivity in response to attendee
questions.

3

Page 13
4.

Population and Electorate Forecasting

4.1

Like many other boroughs, Lambeth has a rapidly increasing population. The elector to councillor ratio
of 4072 is based on the calculated population for 2026 of 256,560. Appendix 1 shows the population
in each ward with large increases occurring in Oval and Princes wards due to major developments.

4.2

The projected electorate for each polling district was estimated using a tool provided by the LGBCE.
The calculation is based on the electorate figures for 2018-20 to which we added the projected
electorate from new residential developments, which are expected to yield over 30 electors; as smaller
variances are reflected in the LGBCE’s tool. A fuller explanation of the process is set out in Appendix
2.

5.

Single and multiple member wards

5.1

The last electoral review took place in 1999 and resulted in twenty one wards, each with three
councillors. As a London borough, all of our councillors are elected at the same time, at four yearly
intervals, with the next borough council elections scheduled for May 2022.

5.2

The Council has considered whether one member wards are appropriate for an inner London borough.
Whilst they may seem to offer a direct sense of accountability we feel this is outweighed by a lack of
resilience if the ward councillor is ill or conflicted on an issue – for example, a planning application. A
single Member would also need to respond to the diverse range of local casework and issues rather
than developing specialisms and expertise which might be useful to their communities. Wards reliant
upon a single part-time councillor carry much greater vulnerability due to the lack of availability of their
representative due to family or work responsibilities, illness or incapacitation than those represented
by two or three members.

5.3

These risks extend to decisions by councillors to resign or to the unfortunate circumstance of a
councillor dying in office. On May 6th there will be no fewer than 38 by-elections taking place in London.
These are elections due to deaths and resignations of sitting councillors which it has not been possible
to hold during the Covid pandemic. A number of these are very many months overdue. Had any of
these by-elections been required in circumstances in which the vacancy had occurred in a onemember ward local electors would have found themselves without a voice on the council for what have
in the end been very long periods.

5.4

Further the demands of listening to communities throughout a ward – no matter what size the ward
may be - frequently require councillors to be present at more than one meeting during an evening or
weekend. Attendance at such meetings or events can be achieved straight forwardly with a team of
two or three councillors. This is not the case for a single member ward and important meetings and
events might be missed as a result of the councillors being unable to attend meetings simultaneously.

5.5

The council believes that the additional demands placed upon councillors in one member wards may
have the effect of reducing representation on councils for residents who have significant family or work
responsibilities. This is likely to make the council less representative, with a disproportionate effect on
the reduction in representation of woman and minority ethnic residents on the council; both of whom
are groups known to be more reluctant to become council candidates.
4

Page 14
5.6

To sum up, multiple member wards give the electorate the choice of which councillor they seek advice
from and the opportunity for mixed party representation. Wards with two or three members also enable
those members to share workloads, acquire specialisms and support each other in producing
information for the ward (such as newsletters), organising and attending local meetings, and
responding to ward specific issues. Our proposal removes the proposed one member ward, puts limits
the number of two member wards and introduces more three member wards as a means to offers
more resilience. Moreover, our proposal takes into account on the large burden that would fall upon
one councillor should they become ill or on extended leave such as maternity/paternity leave.

5

Page 15
6.

Borough Profile1

6.1

Lambeth is an inner London borough with a population of 335,000 (an increase from 327,582 in 2016);
in March 2020 there were 244,634 registered voters. Lambeth had the sixth highest electorate in
London in December 2018 (Appendix 3). The number of households in the borough is projected to
grow from 130,000 in 2011 to 158,500 in 2030.

6.2

The borough borders the Thames to the north, an area incorporating the South Bank, Waterloo Station
and St Thomas’ Hospital. Brixton and Clapham in the centre of the borough are known for their
markets, night life, Kings College Hospital and the Oval Cricket Ground. Streatham and West
Norwood in the south of the borough are primarily residential and retail areas.

6.3

6.4

6.5

The people
Lambeth’s diversity of place is mirrored by its population. It is an extremely vibrant inner London
borough, with a rich cultural and ethnic mix. On a measure of diversity based on the number and size
of different ethnic groups in the 2011 Census, Lambeth was rated as the 11th most diverse borough in
the country; three in five residents described their ethnicity as other than white British. Around 150
languages are spoken and around 17,000 people speak a main language other than English, with
most European and African languages being represented. Lambeth is a largely residential borough
with a relatively young age profile, (44% are young adults aged 20-39) with an increased number of
students due to new student accommodation being built in the north of the borough. Estimates
suggest that Lambeth has one of the largest LGBT populations in London.
Lambeth has the 5th highest population density in England and Wales at an average of 12,020
residents per square kilometre; this compares to an average of 5,600 for London, and just 366 for
England as a whole. Lambeth has the fourth highest turnover of residents in England. 40,000 people
leave the borough, and over 40,000 others move to the borough every year.
Economic Information
The borough is economically diverse. 31% of the population live in areas of high deprivation and the
Borough is the 44th most deprived local authority in England (of 326), and the 9th most deprived local
authority in London. One third of families with children are in receipt of benefits and there are 30,000
people on the Council’s housing waiting list with over 2,000 families including 5,000 children housed in
temporary accommodation.

6.6

The borough has the second highest unemployment rate in London. A key priority for the Council is
tackling disproportionate levels of unemployment affecting those from ethnic minorities, older people
and those classed as long-term unemployed. The NHS is a major employer in the borough as there
are two major hospitals.

6.7

The Council is the third largest local authority landlord in London. The Council has 23,800 homes and
is responsible for 9,400 leasehold properties. The Council has committed a record £490 million capital

1

Figures in this section are taken from the Lambeth Equality Commission Report 2017

https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Equality-Commission-Report-and-Recommendations-2017.pdf and
the State of the Borough report 2016 https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/State%20of%20Borough%202016%20%20v3.pdf

6

Page 16
investment to housing and is already over halfway through a programme of improvements to bring
thousands of homes up to the Lambeth Housing Standard.
Challenges and Priorities - Population Figures
6.8

The council wishes to express concern at the figures the Commission will be using to determine the
electoral equality across the borough.

6.9

For a number of reasons we think these may now not be accurate. It is likely that Covid-19 and its
economic aftermath will influence population growth which was not been factored into the original
calculation. The council also believes that even circumstances prior to the Covid pandemic evidenced
that the growth patterns in London boroughs – including LB Southwark subject of a recent review –
would not have fulfilled their original projections.

6.10 If the geographically varied patterns of population growth across Lambeth, which make up the overall
projected increase in the electorate from 244,000 to 256,000, do not take place this is likely to once
more ensure that parts of Lambeth are overrepresented and others underrepresented.

7

Page 17
7.

Proposals

7.1

A map of the existing wards is attached as Appendix 3. A map of LGBCE’s Draft Recommendations
map and names is attached as Appendix 4 and was used as the basis for the Council’s proposal.

7.2

This link shows a map of the 23 proposed wards.

7.3

The proposed wards and electoral variances are set out in Appendix 5.
Areas
The council wishes to thank the Commission for its work to date and for providing the borough-wide
warding pattern proposals published on 2nd February 2021.The council accepts the broad scheme
proposed by the Commission as providing electoral equality and recognising community identities
across the borough.

7.4

7.5

Our proposals utilises the Draft Recommendations published by LGBCE, but focus on a few key areas
which we believe would benefit from better representation to distinct communities. Within each of
these areas we have proposed wards which group communities through housing estates, community
activity and society as well as shared history and identity. We have considered factors such as
commercial activity, schools, shopping centres and places of worship.

7.6

The council once more wishes to draw the Commission’s attention to problems arising from the Draft
Recommendations as they relate to the designation of one-member wards and the use of the current
population projections.

7.7

The four key areas which proposal focuses on heading north to south are:
1.
2.
3.
4.

7.8

7.9

Clapham & Stockwell area;
Clapham Park & Thornton area;
St Martin’s & Rosendale area; and,
Streatham

Our proposals meet the requirements of the review with no ward more than 10% above or below the
average size electorate projected in 2026. Most of our proposed wards retain great continuity with the
Commission’s proposed wards, where anomalies have been addressed and community links
prioritised.
Naming
The Council agrees with most of the name changes in LGBCE’s Draft Recommendation. The name
changes proposed by the Council mainly relate to the wards’ geographical location and aim to keep
community representation at the centre.

8

Page 18
7.10 Please refer to the highlighted names in the chart below with the proposed new ward names.
LGBCE Ward Name
Brixon Acre Lane
Brixton North
Brixton Windrush
Clapham Abbeville
Clapham East
Clapham Park
Clapham West
Gipsy Hill
Herne Hill & Loughborough Junction
Kennington
Knight’s Hill
Myatt’s Field
Oval & South Lambeth
Rosendale
Rush Common
South Bank & Waterloo
St Martin’s
Stockwell East
Stockwell West & Larkhall
Streatham Common
Streatham Hill Leigham
Streatham South West
Streatham St Leonard’s
Streatham Wells
Thornton
Vauxhall Bridge

Lambeth Council Proposed Ward Name
Accepted
North Brixton
Accepted
Clapham Common
removed
Accepted
Clapham Town
Accepted
Accepted
Accepted
Accepted
Accepted
Accepted
Accepted
Brixton Rush Common
Accepted
Removed
Stockwell East & Landor
Accepted
Streatham Common & The Vale
Streatham Hill & St Martin’s
Removed
Accepted
Accepted
Accepted
Vauxhall

9

Page 19
Key Area 1 – Clapham & Stockwell

LGBCE Ward
Name
Clapham
Abbeville
Clapham East
Stockwell East

Proposed Ward Name

Number of Councillors

Clapham Common
Merged*
Stockwell East & Landor

Variance 2026

3

6%

n/a
3

n/a
-9.2%

Council Warding proposal
The creation of three new 2-member Wards stretching along the A3/Clapham High Street/Clapham Road
sees unusual ward boundaries that undermine effective and convenient local government and the creation
of an Stockwell East Ward without a clear community focus. We believe that the number of 2-member
Wards should be kept to a minimum and where there are better 3-member Ward solutions these should be
favoured.

10

Page 20
We support the Commission’s use of the A3/Clapham High Street/Clapham Road as a boundary. However,
the decision to create a Ward around Clapham North Station has split the local community to the north of
Landor Road. The area within the Commission’s proposed Clapham East Ward to the south of Clapham
North Station looks both north and south as well as to the west and could lend itself to a Ward facing any of
those directions. However, the area to the north of Clapham North Station identifies most strongly with the
area at the southern end of the proposed Stockwell East Ward. The bottleneck at Clapham North effectively
creates a Clapham East & Landor Ward that is two separate Wards and it is likely this will undermine
effective and convenient local government.
Changes to the existing Clapham Common Ward see sections of social housing properties moved out of the
Ward (Notre Dame Estate and portions of the Clapham Park estate) which significantly alters the
demographic of the Ward. This effectively creates a ward focused on streets on either side of Abbeville
Road. We believe Clapham as a community has a balance of street and estate properties, of homeowners
and social housing tenants – but that the Clapham Abbeville Ward as currently constituted does not
preserve this balance creating a ward that does not represent the area’s variegated the community. This
imbalance in demographic could undermine representation for the remaining social housing residents in the
ward. Whilst the Commission has accepted that the residents living around Abbeville Road may have their
own community – those living on the Notre Dame Estate consider themselves to be part of that community
and the Commission has effectively excluded them by drawing a narrower definition of the Ward. This
argument is also ignored on the northern boundary of the proposed Clapham East Ward where the
community along Landor Road is split between two wards. In deploying one argument in the south, the
Commission appears unintentionally to be making an opposing case in the north.
We accept the boundaries proposed for Clapham West (which we believe should retain the current Clapham
Town name) and for Stockwell West & Larkhall. However, the issues referenced with respect to the
proposed Clapham East Ward also apply to the proposed Stockwell East Ward which sees the community
at the southern end of the proposed ward split between two wards. We believe that the railway line running
east/west presents a fixed boundary that should not be crossed by the Clapham East Ward and should be
the southern boundary of a new Stockwell East and Landor Ward. This 3-member Ward consists of three
distinct communities – the area north of Platanos College and Slade Gardens, the area around Stockwell
Underground Station and Stockwell Gardens Estate and the area to the south of the Estate which looks
towards and functions around Landor Road (including the Fenwick Estate).
Our proposals seek to address several issues created by the Commission’s proposals whilst incorporating
the positive suggestions made by them:






We propose largely retaining the existing boundaries of the proposed Stockwell East Ward, tweaking
the small northern boundary so it returns to the current boundary of South Island Place (this will
minimise disruption for local residents who are used to this boundary). The eastern boundary will run
down Brixton Road and then follow the boundary with the proposed North Brixton Ward. The
southern boundary will then run along the east/west railway viaduct (which is impenetrable apart
from the bottleneck at Clapham North) to Clapham Road where it will run north to South Island Place
This new Stockwell East & Landor Ward would be around 9% under the average projected
population levels for a 3-councillor ward – however we note this is a slight improvement on the 10%
under the average projected population levels for the proposed 2-member Stockwell East Ward.
The remainder of the proposed Clapham East Ward to the south of the east/west railway viaduct
would move into a 3-member Clapham Common Ward. The Ward boundary would follow the
Commission’s proposals down Bedford Road/King’s Avenue and then run down the rear gardens of
Rodenhurst Road. The Oaklands Estate, which has much more in common with Poynders Gardens
in the proposed Clapham Park Ward and looks towards Agnes Riley Gardens would move into the
neighbouring Ward (we have proposed other improved recommendations for the Clapham Park and
11

Page 21





Thornton Wards). The rest of the Clapham Common Ward would follow the Borough boundary up to
the Commission’s proposed boundaries through Clapham Common and up Clapham High Street to
Clapham North.
This proposal would unite the distinct communities that face the A3 south of Clapham North into two
rather than three wards – reducing the number of 2-member wards in the area and strengthening
local democracy and representation by ensuring there is a broader range of elected representatives
covering more diverse communities.
Clapham Common Ward would be around 6% over the average projected population levels for a 3councillor ward – a slight improvement in representing equal communities over the Commission’s
proposals for Clapham Abbeville Ward.

These changes improve electoral equality by reducing the underpopulated 2-councillor Stockwell East Ward
and reducing the overpopulation of the 2-councillor Clapham Abbeville Ward
These changes reflect community identity by minimising disruption to those residents at the northern and
southern ends of the proposed Stockwell East Ward by ensuring they continue to be represented by three
councillors covering clearly defined community boundaries. It unites the properties along Landor Road –
removing the odd boundary created by moving 110-154 Landor Road into a different ward and using the
transition to Stockwell Green as the new boundary. It unites the residents of Kay Road, Kimberley Road and
Edithna Street into the same ward as their near neighbours living on Arlesford and Prideaux Roads – cutting
the number of wards along Landor Road/Stockwell Green from three to two.
The Notre Dame Estate would be reunited with their neighbours at the southern end of their estate where it
meets Abbeville Road – being represented by three councillors in the enlarged Clapham Common Ward.
Bringing the area to the north of Clapham Park Road into this Clapham Common Ward ensures a
demographic balance to the Ward that will enhance the ability of the councillors to represent a broader
community voice. It will unite the interests of the Clapham High Street shopping district and Clapham
Common into two wards rather than three - providing a more effective representation of the community
around Clapham Common than the Commission’s proposals.
These changes enhance effective and convenient local government by ensuring that 3 councillors can
represent wider communities (giving greater possibility of political variance in representation and ensuring
that should there be an instances of absence these communities are represented by more than a single
councillor).

12

Page 22
Key Area 2 – Clapham Park & Thornton

LGBCE Ward
Name
Clapham Park
Thornton

Proposed Ward Name

Number of Councillors

Clapham Park
Thornton

3
2

Variance 2026
-2.9%
9.6%

Council Warding proposal
We welcome the Commission’s proposals to unite the Clapham Park Estate in one ward, as we called for in
our submission. However, we are concerned to see the proposed boundary creates two wards of very stark
social difference, when the predecessor wards were marked by their social mix, reflecting Lambeth as a
whole. Whereas the previous Thornton ward was approximately 50:50 social housing and private housing,
the boundaries create one ward that is overwhelmingly social housing and another overwhelmingly private.
We do not feel this adds to effective local government and community cohesion.
Further we believe that the proposed Clapham Park Ward crosses multiple communities, with the area
around Cavendish Road and Poynders Gardens separated from the rest of the area by Agnes Riley
Gardens. This area has much more in common with the neighbourhoods to the south across Atkins Road,
with a shared connection to the shops and facilities on Cavendish Road, and the shops, transport links and
wider connections in Wandsworth on the Balham High Road/Balham Hill. The links to the west will become

13

Page 23
even starker when Poynders Parade is demolished and there remains little retail to the east to draw
residents that way.
We also recognise that residents of Tierney Road are very concerned by the proposed boundaries, leaving
them as an isolated section of housing next to the Metropolitan Thames Valley estates and development.
Their concerns with Metropolitan Thames Valley had already been well rehearsed in the original
submissions.
Residents have also raised with us the arbitrary nature of the boundaries south of the South Circular, cutting
through the area in ways that are unclear.
We are therefore proposing a reconfiguration of the two wards to seek to address some of these issues.
1. We propose including the roads and estates between Clarence Avenue and Cavendish Road in
Thornton ward. Agnes Riley Gardens is a natural boundary and this area has more in common with
the areas to the south and along Cavendish Road.
2. We propose bringing the Oaklands Estate north of the South Circular into Thornton ward. This estate
has clear connections with Poynders Gardens and this area was previously within Thornton ward.
The South Circular is not a firm boundary to the east in the proposed Clapham Park Ward and we do
not feel it to be so on this short stretch. This change also addresses electoral equality in our
proposals for revised boundaries to the proposed Clapham Abbeville as well as for the two wards
considered here.
3. We propose making the substantial border between the two wards run on Telford Avenue and
Thornton Road. This addresses to a greater degree the concerns of residents in Clapham Park Ward
who are not Clapham Park Estate residents, by including a greater number in that ward who will be
similarly affected by future redevelopments, ensuring greater social and housing diversity. For much
of its length, the two sides of Thornton Road are not particularly connected with terraced housing
facing entrances to cul-de-sacs, social housing blocks or community facilities. Thornton Road feels a
natural, neat boundary – the areas to the south defined by their proximity to Tooting Bec Common
and those to the north by the Estate and South Circular.
Figure 1: Our proposals for the Oaklands
Estate, Poynders Gardens and the area
to the west of Agnes Riley Gardens.

14

Page 24

Figure 2: Our proposals for the
boundary at Thornton Road and
Telford Avenue

15

Page 25
Key Area 3 – St Martin’s & Rosendale

LGBCE Ward
Name
Streatham Hill
Leigham
St Martin’s
Rosendale

Proposed Ward Name

Number of Councillors

Variance 2026

Streatham Hill & St Martin’s

3

1.8%

Merged*
Rosendale

3

-0.6%

Council Warding proposal
There was considerable concern from the residents group representing Lancaster Road that the proposals
for the new Rosendale Road drew a line down the middle of their road – separating the north and the south
sides of the road into two separate wards. The creation of the new 2-member Rosendale Ward saw a
significant number of social housing properties moved out of the Ward and created an imbalance in
demographic of population which we believe could lead to a lack of representation for the remaining social
housing residents in the Ward. We also note that the Norwood Action Group proposed retaining the area
between Tulse Hill and Norwood Road in the same Ward as the area to the east of Norwood Road (p136 of
Commission report).

16

Page 26
The Commission’s description for the proposed Streatham Hill & Leighams Ward states that “We have
made a minor modification which unites all the electors on Palace Road in this ward.” However, the
proposals do not do that – separating Palace Road into two different proposed wards (properties on Palace
Road to the west of Hillside Road are in Streatham Hill & Leigham and those to the east of Hillside Road are
in St Martin’s). Residents have joined councillors in expressing their concern that this will weaken the voice
of residents living along Palace Road. In addition, residents of Kingsmead/Northstead/Kinfauns Road are in
a separate ward to those of Palace Road – despite these roads only being accessible by vehicle from
Palace Road.
The properties on Romanfield/Saxonfield/Scotia Road, Leckhampton Place and Marnfield Crescent are only
able to access their properties from Upper Tulse Hill. The Commission currently places them in the
proposed Rush Common Ward – however they look towards the St Martin’s Estate and have more in
common with them, using the shops on Upper Tulse Hill and sharing the 201 bus that moves through this
area.
Our proposals seek to address the problems created by the Commission’s proposals whilst incorporating
the positive suggestions:












We propose largely retaining the existing boundaries of Thurlow Park Ward to minimise disruption
for existing residents. The area around the Tulse Hill gyratory does not have its own unique identity
as described in the Commission’s report – with many residents in the Deronda Triangle and northern
section of Norwood Road looking north towards Brockwell Park and Herne Hill. Whilst at the
southern end of the Ward residents describe themselves as from Norwood and Dulwich as much as
they do from Tulse Hill. People living in this area are aware of their representation on Lambeth
Council and would benefit from minimised disruption caused by the Commission’s proposals.
The Deronda Triangle area would remain in the successor Ward to Thurlow Park, a 3-member ward
that would also see 126-138 Trinity Rise moved into Rosendale Ward – ensuring they are
represented by the same councillors as all the other residents on Trinity Rise.
The Commission’s proposals for the southern boundary of the proposed ward with Knights Hill and
Gipsy Hill would be retained.
This new Rosendale Ward would be around 0.5% under the average projected population levels for
a 3-councillor ward.
The whole of the St Martin’s Estate would move into a renamed Streatham Hill & St Martin’s Ward
represented by 3 councillors (an alternative name could be Streatham Hill & Christchurch after the
name of the road that runs the width of the ward). This would ensure the positives recognised in
p140 of the Commissions proposals of uniting the St Martin’s Estate in one ward are realised. The
Estate TRA has strong links with the TRA of the Palace Road Estate on the other side of
Christchurch Road (stronger than those with the Deronda Estate as suggested in p135 of the report)
– with residents working together on a community garden on the corner of Roupell Road and
Christchurch Road, many children going to the three schools within the Estate or on Palace Road
and many residents of the St Martin’s Estate using the Palace Road surgery on Palace Road.
This new Streatham Hill & St Martin’s Ward would unite into one ward two roads split by the current
proposals (Roupell Road and Palace Road). It would also unite the residents of
Kingsmead/Northstead/Kinfauns Road with their immediate neighbours on Palace Road.
Our proposal moves the properties on Romanfield/Saxonfield/Scotia Road, Leckhampton Place and
Marnfield Crescent into the same ward as their immediate neighbours along Upper Tulse Hill
ensuring a better representation of the local community. The new boundary with Rush Common
Ward would run along the rear gardens of properties on the southern side of Athlone Road. To
balance projected population levels for Rush Common Ward we propose moving the properties
between Effra Road and Dalberg Road (Fitch Court, Massey Mews, Bailey Mews, Trelawn Road,
Morval Road and Brixton Water Lane) from the Brixton Windrush Ward into Rush Common Ward.
17

Page 27



This will unite all of Brixton Water Lane in one Ward (Rush Common) and ensure the familiar
problems of those living around the junction of Brixton Water Lane and Effra Road/Tulse Hill are
represented by one set of councillors. It leaves the Brixton Windrush Ward only 0.7% under the
projected population level and Rush Common Ward around 4% under the projected population level.
This new Streatham Hill & St Martin’s Ward would be around 2% over the average projected
population levels for a 3-councillor ward.

These changes improve electoral equality by reducing the overpopulated 2-councillor Brixton Windrush
Ward and reducing the underpopulation of the 3-councillor Rush Common Ward
These changes reflect community identity by minimising disruption to those residents in Thurlow Park Ward
by ensuring they continue to be represented by three councillors covering the existing ward area (albeit
sightly enlarged); it unites the properties accessed by Marnfield Crescent with those of their immediate
neighbours along Upper Tulse Hill and the St Martin’s Estate (ensuring they are no longer cut off from the
rest of the Ward they are in); it unites the residents of Kingsmead/Northstead/Kinfauns Road with their
immediate neighbours on Palace Road (ensuring they are no longer cut off from the rest of the Ward they
are in); it unites residents on Roupell Road and Palace Road (ensuring they are all in the same Streatham
Hill & St Martin’s Ward); it unites all residents on Trinity Rise (ensuring they are all in the same Rosendale
Ward); it unites all residents on Lancaster Road (ensuring they are all in the same Rosendale Ward).
These changes enhance effective and convenient local government by ensuring that 3 councillors can
represent wider communities (giving greater possibility of political variance in representation and ensuring
that in instances of absence these communities are not represented by a single councillor). The changes
also ensure that residents of these wards predominantly continue to be represented by the same Members
of Parliament.

18

Page 28
Key Area 4 – Streatham

LGBCE Ward
Name
Streatham Wells
Streatham
Common
Streatham South
West

Proposed Ward Name

Number of Councillors

Streatham Wells
Streatham Common & The
Vale
Merged*

19

Variance 2026

2
3

8.5%
-4.5%

n/a

n/a

Page 29
Council Warding proposal
The creation of a new 2-member Streatham South West Ward, a smaller 2-member Streatham Wells ward
and an entirely new 1-member Streatham Common Ward sees the formation of ward boundaries which
divide existing communities across three wards and separate residents and neighbourhoods from local
facilities and amenities.
The council supports the proposed new boundary between St Leonards and Streatham South West to the
South of Greyhound Lane at the junction of Tankerville, Buckleigh and Northanger Roads. It also reconfirms
Streatham Vale – a community facing both north towards the A23 and Streatham Lodge and south towards
Streatham Vale Park and towards Mitcham – as part of a wider ward at the southern end of Streatham. It is
however firmly of the view that the proposal to split Streatham South and Wells wards to create a new one
member Streatham Common Ward runs counter to the interests and preferences on the local community.
Whilst the Streatham Lodge community sits adjacent to the common to their immediate north the community
faces south for the majority of its connections and amenities. The proposed new 1-member Common Ward
contains no shops or leisure facilities, with residents within the proposed area instead accessing retail,
hospitality and community events and services in areas within the proposed Streatham South West Ward.
The increasing numbers of families with school age children in the Streatham Lodge area of the proposed
Streatham Common Ward are looking to schools – including Immanuel and Woodmansterne Primaries both
in South West – for their education. Woodmansterne Secondary School in South West Ward has recently
been built to address the needs of families across the area including Streatham Lodge and other parts of the
proposed Common ward. St Andrews Primary School on Polworth Road is the primary school used by the
local Catholic community in Streatham South, with pupils attending from across Streatham Common and
Streatham South West.
Pubs on the stretch of shops and businesses on the A23, such as the Bull and the Mere Scribbler, are a
focal point for the community on both sides of the high road, with local societies and sports groups drawing
members from across Streatham South using them for their meetings and social events. Immanuel and St
Andrew's Church and St Bartholomew's Church both in South West serve the local Anglican and Catholic
communities respectively and take their congregations from across both South West and Common. The
Shree Swaminarayan Hindu Temple on Colmer Road serves the growing Hindu community in Streatham
South, with worshippers being drawn both from Streatham South and the Streatham Lodge area. A key hub
of Streatham’s Polish community, Cztery Pory Roku Polish cafe on Streatham Vale attracts residents from
across the South West and Common Wards and beyond.
The local GP (the Streatham Common Group Practice) will be divided across two wards under the
proposals, as it has one site on Guildersfield Road, currently slated to be in Streatham South West, and one
in Baldry Gardens which will be in the new Streatham Common ward. The current proposals will also split
the South Streatham Tenants and Residents Association (SoSTRA) in two, as the council and social
housing tenants currently represented by it live in properties on both sides of the A23. The Streatham
Common Conservation Area does not only cover the Streatham Lodge estate, it also encompasses
properties on the other side of the A23. These residents have the same conservation and planning interests
which it would makes sense to accommodate in a single ward.
Finally, many residents of Streatham South West rely on Streatham Common for recreation, particularly the
private rental sector tenants who do not have their own gardens. There are over 40 members of the Friends
of Streatham Common group who live in Streatham South West and the Streatham Common Co-operative
which manages the park draws its membership from across the area.
20

Page 30
The council also believes the proposed boundary between the new two member Streatham Wells Ward and
the proposed Common ward has been set too far north and fails to take account of the emerging community
interest reflected – as is the case in the new boundary of the Streatham Hill Leigham Ward elsewhere in the
Commission’s proposals - in the Low Traffic Neighbourhood which covers the streets between Gleneldon
Road and Polworth Road which have been split by the proposed boundary. Residents on Valley Road near
the junction with Hill House Road are also divided under the current proposals from neighbours to the north
with whom they work closely on key local resident interests including road safety and traffic speeds.
The council accepts the proposition that residents living on the A214 on the north side of the common have
as strong an interest in management of the open space and decision making with respect to activity on the
Common as those living on Streatham Common South. It therefore supports the principle that they be
included in the same ward reflecting as it does a clear community interest.
The council proposals seek to address key issues created by the Commission’s proposals whilst
incorporating the positive suggestions made by them:







We propose retaining the boundaries of the proposed Streatham St Leonards Ward and accepting
its boundary with the Streatham South West Ward as proposed.
We propose re-locating the northern boundary of Streatham South West Ward to encompass the
proposed 1-member Streatham Common Ward - addressing the south facing character of the
Streatham Lodge and nearby community – and creating a three-member ward which we would
propose carries the name ‘Streatham Common and The Vale’ as befitting the wider neighbourhood
within its boundaries.
We propose to locate the northern boundary of the enlarged Streatham Common and the Vale Ward
along Polworth Rd, the intersection of Valley Rd and to the north of homes on Hill House Rd.
These changes maintain acceptable electoral equality with Streatham Common and the Vale
exceeding the average by 4.5% and Streatham Wells by 8.5%.
The arrangement ensures there is no requirement for a one-councillor ward in Streatham, a
development known to have caused considerable concern amongst residents and stakeholders both
within and near the proposed Streatham Common Ward for the reasons set out in the introduction of
this submission.

Figure 3: Detailed proposals for the
boundary between the proposed
Streatham Common and The Vale
Ward and Streatham Wells Ward

21

Page 31
These changes proposed by the council resolve the key problems which the commission was seeking to
address in its original proposals well as the new issues raised by the creation of the one-member Streatham
Common Ward and its relationship with proposed neighbouring wards to the north and south.







Streatham Common with its requirement for focused political representation remains within a single
ward enabling a team of councillors to provide a strong voice for investment and improvements to
the Common within the council as well as representation the views of residents and about the
management of - and activity taking place on – the Common. A view that is endorsed by the Friends
of Streatham common
The south facing community of Streatham Lodge is represented by members elected to serve both
their residential and neighbourhood interests as well as the area in which they access amenities and
services located in and around the A23 and in Streatham Vale. This is a view supported by
representations from the Streatham Lodge RA, local churches and the Hindu temple as well as from
local schools and health services.
Residents in the Streatham Vale area remain connected to the Common and other key amenities to
their north.
The boundaries with Streatham Wells ward reflect emerging communities forged by concern with
local transport and public realm issues whilst providing for a community adjacent to the Common
able to have their voice heard.

The Commission expressed their wish to hear the views of residents in Streatham Lodge on the proposed
boundaries. The clear message we have heard is that they do not want to be represented by a single
councillor in a ward divided from the rest of their local community in the areas surrounding the Common. We
would therefore urge the Commission not to act against the clearly expressed wishes of the residents who
live in this area.

22

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 33

New electoral arrangements for
Lambeth Council
Draft Recommendations
February 2021

Page 34

Translations and other formats:
To get this report in another language or in a large-print or Braille version, please
contact the Local Government Boundary Commission for England at:
Tel: 0330 500 1525
Email: reviews@lgbce.org.uk

Licensing:
The mapping in this report is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Keeper of Public Records © Crown
copyright and database right. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and database right.
Licence Number: GD 100049926 2021

A note on our mapping:
The maps shown in this report are for illustrative purposes only. Whilst best efforts
have been made by our staff to ensure that the maps included in this report are
representative of the boundaries described by the text, there may be slight variations
between these maps and the large PDF map that accompanies this report, or the
digital mapping supplied on our consultation portal. This is due to the way in which
the final mapped products are produced. The reader should therefore refer to either
the large PDF supplied with this report or the digital mapping for the true likeness of
the boundaries intended. The boundaries as shown on either the large PDF map or
the digital mapping should always appear identical.

Page 35

Contents
Introduction

1

Who we are and what we do

1

What is an electoral review?

1

Why Lambeth?

2

Our proposals for Lambeth

2

How will the recommendations affect you?

2

Have your say

3

Review timetable

3

Analysis and draft recommendations

5

Submissions received

5

Electorate figures

5

Number of councillors

6

Ward boundaries consultation

6

Draft recommendations

7

Kennington, Oval, Vauxhall and Waterloo

9

Clapham Abbeville, Clapham East, Clapham West and Stockwell

15

Brixton, Herne Hill, Myatts Field and Rush Common

20

Clapham Park and Thornton

25

Gipsy Hill, Knight’s Hill, Rosendale and St Martin’s

28

Streatham

34

Conclusions
Summary of electoral arrangements

41
41

Have your say

43

Equalities

47

Appendices

49

Appendix A
Draft recommendations for Lambeth Council
Appendix B
Outline map
Appendix C
Submissions received
Appendix D
Glossary and abbreviations

49
49
52
52
54
54
56
56

Page 36

Introduction
Who we are and what we do
1
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is an
independent body set up by Parliament.1 We are not part of government or any
political party. We are accountable to Parliament through a committee of MPs
chaired by the Speaker of the House of Commons. Our main role is to carry out
electoral reviews of local authorities throughout England.
2

The members of the Commission are:
•
•
•
•

Professor Colin Mellors OBE
(Chair)
Andrew Scallan CBE
(Deputy Chair)
Susan Johnson OBE
Peter Maddison QPM

•
•

Amanda Nobbs OBE
Steve Robinson

•

Jolyon Jackson CBE
(Chief Executive)

What is an electoral review?
3
An electoral review examines and proposes new electoral arrangements for a
local authority. A local authority’s electoral arrangements decide:
•
•
•

How many councillors are needed.
How many wards or electoral divisions there should be, where their
boundaries are and what they should be called.
How many councillors should represent each ward or division.

4
When carrying out an electoral review the Commission has three main
considerations:
•
•
•

Improving electoral equality by equalising the number of electors that each
councillor represents.
Ensuring that the recommendations reflect community identity.
Providing arrangements that support effective and convenient local
government.

5
Our task is to strike the best balance between these three considerations when
making our recommendations.

1

Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009

1

Page 37

6
More detail regarding the powers that we have, as well as the further guidance
and information about electoral reviews and review process in general, can be found
on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk

Why Lambeth?
7
We are conducting a review of Lambeth Council (‘the Council’) as the value of
each vote in borough elections varies depending on where you live in Lambeth.
Some councillors currently represent many more or fewer electors than others. This
is ‘electoral inequality’. Our aim is to create ‘electoral equality’, where votes are as
equal as possible, ideally within 10% of being exactly equal.
8

This electoral review is being carried out to ensure that:
•
•

The wards in Lambeth are in the best possible places to help the Council
carry out its responsibilities effectively.
The number of electors represented by each councillor is approximately
the same across the borough.

Our proposals for Lambeth
9
Lambeth should be represented by 63 councillors, the same number as there
are now.
10

Lambeth should have 26 wards, five more than there are now.

11

The boundaries of all wards should change; none will stay the same.

How will the recommendations affect you?
12 The recommendations will determine how many councillors will serve on the
Council. They will also decide which ward you vote in and which other communities
are in that ward. Your ward name may also change.
13 Our recommendations cannot affect the external boundaries of the borough or
result in changes to postcodes. They do not take into account parliamentary
constituency boundaries. The recommendations will not have an effect on local
taxes, house prices, or car and house insurance premiums and we are not able to
consider any representations which are based on these issues.

2

Page 38

Have your say
14 We will consult on the draft recommendations for a 10-week period, from
2 February 2021 to 12 April 2021. We encourage everyone to use this opportunity to
comment on these proposed wards as the more public views we hear, the more
informed our decisions will be in making our final recommendations.
15 We ask everyone wishing to contribute ideas for the new wards to first read this
report and look at the accompanying map before responding to us.
16 You have until 12 April 2021 to have your say on the draft recommendations.
See page 43 for how to send us your response.

Review timetable
17 We wrote to the Council to ask its views on the appropriate number of
councillors for Lambeth. We then held a period of consultation with the public on
warding patterns for the borough. The submissions received during consultation
have informed our draft recommendations.
18

The review is being conducted as follows:

Stage starts

Description

21 April 2020

Number of councillors decided

14 July 2020

Start of consultation seeking views on new wards

21 September
2020

End of consultation; we began analysing submissions and
forming draft recommendations

2 February 2021

Publication of draft recommendations; start of second
consultation

12 April 2021

End of consultation; we begin analysing submissions and
forming final recommendations

29 June 2021

Publication of final recommendations

3

Page 39

4

Page 40

Analysis and draft recommendations
19 Legislation2 states that our recommendations should not be based only on how
many electors3 there are now, but also on how many there are likely to be in the five
years after the publication of our final recommendations. We must also try to
recommend strong, clearly identifiable boundaries for our wards.
20 In reality, we are unlikely to be able to create wards with exactly the same
number of electors in each; we have to be flexible. However, we try to keep the
number of electors represented by each councillor as close to the average for the
council as possible.
21 We work out the average number of electors per councillor for each individual
local authority by dividing the electorate by the number of councillors, as shown on
the table below.

Electorate of Lambeth
Number of councillors
Average number of electors per
councillor

2020
244,634
63

2026
256,560
63

3,883

4,072

22 When the number of electors per councillor in a ward is within 10% of the
average for the authority, we refer to the ward as having ‘good electoral equality’. All
of our proposed wards for Lambeth are forecast to have good electoral equality by
2026.

Submissions received
23 See Appendix C for details of the submissions received. All submissions may
be viewed on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk

Electorate figures
24 The Council submitted electorate forecasts for 2026, a period five years on
from the scheduled publication of our final recommendations in 2021. These
forecasts were broken down to polling district level and predicted an increase in the
electorate of around 5% by 2026.
25 The Council’s Green Party Group (‘Green Group’) expressed concern that the
forecast electorate may be over ambitious and may not be attained. Some residents

2
3

Schedule 2 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
Electors refers to the number of people registered to vote, not the whole adult population.

5

Page 41

also questioned the forecast. We note that some of these concerns are because the
growth in electorate forecast for Bishop’s ward at the last review did not occur.
26 We considered the information provided by the Council and note that there is
huge development taking place in the north of the borough. The Commission
acknowledges that forecasting is an inexact science and recognises the difficulty in
projecting figures. We also acknowledge that population and development trends are
dynamic. For instance, the impact of Covid-19 on developments is unknown.
However, we are satisfied that the projected figures are the best available at the
present time. We have used these figures to produce our draft recommendations.

Number of councillors
27 Lambeth Council currently has 63 councillors. We have looked at evidence
provided by the Council and have concluded that keeping this number the same will
ensure the Council can carry out its roles and responsibilities effectively.
28 We therefore invited proposals for new patterns of wards that would be
represented by 63 councillors: for example, 63 one-councillor wards, 21 threecouncillor wards, or a mix of one-, two- and three-councillor wards.
29 We received one submission for an alternative number of councillors in
response to our consultation on ward patterns. The submission proposed that each
of the existing wards should have a single councillor or a total of 21 councillors for
the borough largely on cost grounds. No further details were provided to support this
proposal and we did not accept it. We therefore based our draft recommendations on
a 63-councillor council.

Ward boundaries consultation
30 We received 244 submissions in response to our consultation on ward
boundaries. These included four borough-wide proposals from the Council, the
Green Group on the Council (‘the Green Group’), the three Lambeth Conservative
Associations (‘the Conservatives’) and Lambeth Liberal Democrats (‘the Liberal
Democrats’). We also received borough-wide comments from a resident which were
in line with the Liberal Democrats’ proposals. We received partial schemes from
Norwood Action Group and a resident. The remainder of the submissions provided
localised comments for wards arrangements in particular areas of the borough.
31 The borough-wide schemes all had good electoral equality but proposed
significantly different boundaries. The Council proposed 22 wards: 19 threecouncillor and three two-councillor wards. With the exception of the north of the
borough, the Council’s proposals retained ‘great continuity with existing wards’. It
explained that it had sought to address anomalies and prioritise community links.

6

Page 42

32 The Green Group proposed 26 wards represented by a mix of three and two
councillors. Although the submission included general comments on the borough, it
reserved its detailed comments for the south of the borough.
33 The Conservatives and Liberal Democrats both submitted schemes that unlike
the Council’s proposals are not based on existing wards. The Conservatives focused
wards on parks and open spaces wherever possible. Their scheme included 26
wards: 11 three-councillor and 15 two-councillor wards. They explained that in order
to better represent communities a larger number of smaller wards were required.
34 The Liberal Democrats also proposed 26 wards, which included the option of a
single-councillor ward. They stated that because of the presumption of threemember wards at the last review, the current wards include ‘significant
compromises’. Their proposals also included smaller wards to ‘better reflect
communities and natural dividing lines’.
35 Given the travel restrictions, and social distancing, arising from the Covid-19
outbreak, there was a detailed, virtual tour of Lambeth. This helped to clarify issues
raised in submissions and assisted in the construction of the proposed boundary
recommendations.

Draft recommendations
36 Our draft recommendations are for 12 three-councillor wards, 13 two-councillor
wards and one single-councillor ward. We consider that our draft recommendations
will provide for good electoral equality while reflecting community identities and
interests where we received such evidence during consultation.
37 The four borough-wide schemes each had a great deal of merit, including
broadly good electoral equality. However, the boundaries of the wards proposed
were very different across the majority of the borough and it was not possible to
adopt wards proposed by one respondent in one area and the wards proposed by
another in the neighbouring area given the significant difference in their respective
boundaries. Accordingly, we have used the scheme that we considered provided the
best balance between the statutory criteria as a basis for much of the ward’s
boroughs. Both the Conservatives and Liberal Democrats identified wards based on
communities as they exist today. However, we considered that overall the Liberal
Democrats’ proposals provided the greatest level of community evidence which in a
number of areas received individual support from residents. We note that the
Council’s proposals were based primarily on existing wards. We recognise that
existing wards may reflect community identities; however, we do not assume this
and consider that generally the evidence of community identity in support of the
Liberal Democrats’ scheme was stronger.

7

Page 43

38 We are of the view that the proposed pattern of wards results in good levels of
electoral equality by 2026 and generally uses identifiable boundaries. As well as the
wards proposed by the Liberal Democrats and the Council we are also adopting
boundaries in light of evidence of community links and locally recognised boundaries
described by other respondents, including the Conservatives and Green Group,
where we were persuaded that their proposals provided the best balance between
the statutory criteria. In some areas we considered that the proposals did not provide
for the best balance between our statutory criteria and so we identified alternative
boundaries.
39 We note that this pattern of wards is very different from the existing pattern, but
we are of the view that it reflects communities as they have developed and
represents a good balance of our statutory criteria. The proposed patterns of wards
result in good levels of electoral equality in most areas of the authority and generally
use clearly identifiable boundaries. We have used the ward names as proposed by
the proponents of the wards we are adopting, with the exception of South Bank &
Waterloo ward where there was persuasive evidence for the ward name we propose.
As these are draft recommendations, we welcome comments and views on
alternative boundaries and ward names.
40 The tables and maps on pages 9–39 detail our draft recommendations for each
area of Lambeth. They detail how the proposed warding arrangements reflect the
three statutory4 criteria of:
•
•
•

Equality of representation.
Reflecting community interests and identities.
Providing for effective and convenient local government.

41 A summary of our proposed new wards is set out in the table starting on page
49 and on the large map accompanying this report.
42 We welcome all comments on these draft recommendations, particularly on the
location of the ward boundaries, and the names of our proposed wards.

4

Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

8

Page 44

Kennington, Oval, Vauxhall and Waterloo

Number of
councillors
3
3
2
3

Ward name
Kennington
Oval & South Lambeth
South Bank & Waterloo
Vauxhall Bridge

9

Variance 2026
1%
0%
0%
-1%

Page 45

Kennington, Oval & South Lambeth and Vauxhall Bridge
43 In addition to the borough-wide submissions, we received comments from a
number of residents. The borough-wide submissions all proposed three wards in this
area, but the boundaries were very different.
44 The Council’s proposed Kennington ward included the entire Walcot
Conservation Area and the China Walk Estate. Its proposed Oval ward included
Kennington Park, Kennington Park Estate and a small area east of Brixton Road. It
argued that this estate should be encouraged to develop a community with those
who would reside in the new development on the old gas work site. Its Vauxhall
Riverside ward included residents to the west of South Lambeth Road and between
Wyvil and Thorne roads and Thorncroft Street. Under these proposals the Vauxhall
Gardens Estate is split across two wards. The Council argued that this was
acceptable because as the largest estate in the borough, it was represented by three
different residents’ associations and only one of them would be split across wards if
these proposals were adopted.
45 The Conservatives’ proposed Nine Elms ward ran along the riverside from
Whitgift Street in the north to Belmore Street in the south and excluded the area east
of Vauxhall station. However, like the Council, they included residents to the west of
South Lambeth Road and between Wyvil and Thorne roads and Thorncroft Street in
this ward because they considered that residents of this area would shop at the new
Sainsbury’s and use the new Nine Elms station. They also believe that these
residents do not identify as living in Oval, but rather Nine Elms or Vauxhall. Unlike
the Council, however, they did not split Vauxhall Gardens Estate but included it in
their proposed Kennington ward.
46 The Green Group proposed retaining most of the existing Princes ward which
unlike the other three schemes spans the breadth of the borough from east to west.
It also proposed an Oval ward and a Vauxhall ward in this area.
47 The Liberal Democrats’ proposals, like the Conservatives’, did not split the
Vauxhall Gardens Estate. They argued that it ought to be in a Vauxhall-facing ward.
They proposed that Kennington Park and Kennington Park Estate be included in a
Kennington ward which they stated ‘places all the communities on Kennington Road’
within this ward. They stated that Kennington Road is the high street for Kennington
and is a major road/bus route.
48 The Liberal Democrats agreed with the view that residents to the east of
Wandsworth Road and south of South Lambeth Road, across from the new Nine
Elms station, will shop at the Sainsbury’s and use the station for transport; however,
they argued that that will be the extent of their association with those in the new
developments and that their community will be to the east towards South Lambeth
Road.

10

Page 46

49 One resident proposed the creation of ‘an inland’ Kennington ward and a
Vauxhall-facing Vauxhall ward. The proposal included Kennington Cross in a single
ward. A resident of Kennington Park Estate stated that it made more sense for them
to be included in a ward to the north because ‘the cricket ground and the main roads
formed a natural boundary’.
50 Another resident stated that there was a South Lambeth community around
Mawbey Brough, Dorset Road and the area around Tradescant Road and Aldebert
Terrace. This is an area on both sides of a particular stretch of South Lambeth Road.
51 Another resident proposed a single-councillor ward in the Vauxhall area to
acknowledge the historical and diverse LGBT+ venues in the area and a twocouncillor Kennington ward. However, they did not provide any specific boundaries
or detailed community evidence in support of this proposal. And another resident
proposed the creation of a Vauxhall & Kennington Park ward in place of the existing
Oval ward.
52 We have considered all the evidence we received and while we note the size of
the Vauxhall Gardens Estate, we have not been persuaded to split it in the face of
other proposals which keep it together. Furthermore, while we agree that the
residents immediately east of the new Nine Elms station will make use of the new
facilities close to them, we believe that their community is likely to continue to be to
the east around the facilities on South Lambeth Road and not with the substantial
community that will develop from the new multi-storey housing on Wandsworth
Road.
53 With regards to the area around The Oval cricket ground and Kennington Park,
we note the desirability to keep the park and associated estate together. We were of
the view that they could form part of either a ward with The Oval to the west and
south-west or with Kennington to the north. On our virtual tour we noted that while
Kennington Park Estate and Kennington Park are close to the cricket ground,
Kennington Park Estate does not face on to it. Accordingly, we consider that that part
of Kennington Oval (alongside the cricket ground) forms a good boundary.
54 We have therefore adopted the Liberal Democrats’ proposals for this area
which keeps the Vauxhall Gardens Estate in a single ward, unites the area to the
east of the new Nine Elms station with their community in South Lambeth and
includes Kennington Park and Kennington Park Estate in Kennington ward to the
north. We agree with the Conservatives that the community immediately east of Nine
Elms station will not consider themselves part of the Oval community; however, we
do consider that they will identify as part of the South Lambeth community.
55
We note that these proposals meet a number of the Council’s objectives. For
example, they unite the Walcot Conservation Area in a single ward. The China Walk

11

Page 47

Estate is also included in a single ward and so is the area around Kennington Cross.
Our proposals also take account of the access for residents of Bonnington Square
and Vauxhall Grove from the northern end of South Lambeth Road.
56 We are persuaded by the strength of Brixton Road and Camberwell New Road
as strong boundaries and while we acknowledge that residents to the immediate
east of Brixton Road will most likely use Oval underground station for transport, this
will also be the case for residents in a much wider area, for example those to the
immediate south of Caldwell and Vassall roads.
57 However, we have made a number of minor adjustments. We have excluded St
Mark’s Church from Kennington ward in light of the strength of Camberwell New
Road as a boundary. On the other hand, we have included Cleveland Mansions on
Mowll Street in our Oval & South Lambeth ward as the residents appear to be in the
same development with those on the other side of the road. This is in line with the
Council’s boundary in this area.
58 Our draft recommendations are for three three-councillor wards: Kennington
ward, forecast to have 1% more electors per councillor than the borough average;
Oval & South Lambeth ward, forecast to have approximately the same number of
elector per councillor as the borough average; and Vauxhall Bridge ward, forecast to
have 1% fewer electors than the borough average, by 2026.
59
A resident proposed renaming the existing Princes ward Chaplin ward.
However, as the new wards in this area are not comparable with the existing Princes
ward, and as they did not provide evidence to support this, we did not adopt this
name change. We note that the Council proposed naming its ward in the Vauxhall
area Vauxhall Riverside and we welcome comments on whether this name should
be adopted in light of our draft recommendation’s boundaries. We also note that the
Conservatives proposed a Nine Elms ward. Although its southern boundary extends
further south, we welcome comments on whether Nine Elms is an appropriate name
for our Vauxhall Bridge ward.
South Bank & Waterloo
60 In addition to the borough-wide schemes, we received submissions for this
ward from the South Bank Employers’ Group (SBEG) and a number of residents.
61 The borough-wide submissions proposed similar boundaries for a twocouncillor ward which excluded residents between Kennington Road and Sail
Street/the railway line, south of Lambeth Road. The proposals placed residents to
the west of the railway line and north of Whitgift Street in this ward. The Council and
Liberal Democrats proposed that the south-eastern boundary should run along Sail
and Newport streets before turning west along Whitgift Street. The Conservatives

12

Page 48

and Green Group used the railway line as the south-eastern boundary. This minor
difference does not include any electors.
62 The Council explained that it was difficult to create a three-councillor ward
without splitting the Ethelred Estate or creating a community in a long and narrow
peninsula along the riverfront which would be separated from the rest of the ward.
63 The SBEG argued for a three-councillor ward in this area. It stated that two
councillors would be insufficient for the area due to its nature, its needs and its
recent and projected growth. The SBEG believes that the area’s recovery from the
pandemic and its economic competitiveness will be threatened if ‘the area and its
needs become more peripheral in terms of its status as a two-member ward’. It also
highlighted its collaborative work with the South Bank & Waterloo Neighbours
(SoWN) and stressed that any proposals should not undermine this work.
64 A resident suggested that the ward should be extended along the riverfront to
Vauxhall and up to the railway viaduct. Another resident suggested that a portion of
the existing Bishop’s ward, specifically in polling district VAD south of Lambeth Road
around Walnut Tree Walk, should be moved into a ward to the south. The resident
went on to say that the Whitgift Estate would no longer be split across wards. All of
the borough-wide schemes we received proposed doing this.
65 We have considered the submissions we received for this area and have been
persuaded to create a two-councillor ward as proposed by the borough-wide
schemes. The south-eastern boundary of the ward runs along Sail and Newport
streets and we invite comments as to whether this boundary should be run along the
railway line instead.
66 We note the comments made by the SBEG. However, we are content that the
number of councillors is proportionate to the number of forecast electors as
evidenced by the ward’s forecast electoral variance (0%). We are also persuaded
that this ward represents a good balance of our statutory criteria. Furthermore, the
proposed ward includes the entire SoWN Neighbourhood Area that sits within the
London Borough of Lambeth according to the SoWN website.
67 We received a number of suggested names for this ward. The Council, the
Green Group and the Liberal Democrats proposed naming it Waterloo ward. The
Council explained that this was to reflect ‘the most prominent landmark and
neighbourhood name in the area’. The Conservatives proposed naming it after
Archbishop Park, located within the ward, while a resident suggested Lambeth North
& South Bank. Finally, the SBEG proposed naming it South Bank & Waterloo to
better reflect the fact that this has become the accepted name for many communitydriven initiatives in the area, including SoWN, South Bank & Waterloo Forum and
South Bank & Waterloo Partnership. We have been persuaded by the SBEG’s

13

Page 49

arguments that it reflects the community identity in this area and have named this
proposed ward accordingly. Nevertheless, we welcome comments on the name of
this proposed ward.
68 Our draft recommendations are for a two-councillor South Bank & Waterloo
ward which is forecast to have approximately the same number of electors per
councillor as the average for Lambeth Council, by 2026.

14

Page 50

Clapham Abbeville, Clapham East, Clapham West and Stockwell

Number of
councillors
2
2
3
2
3

Ward name
Clapham Abbeville
Clapham East
Clapham West
Stockwell East
Stockwell West & Larkhall

Variance 2026
6%
1%
6%
-10%
2%

Clapham Abbeville, Clapham East and Clapham West
69 In addition to the borough-wide proposals, we received submissions from a
number of residents.
70 The Council stated that its proposals for Clapham and for Stockwell ‘involve
small adjustments to existing wards to tidy up anomalies with their current
boundaries and to improve arrangements for local representation’. It therefore
proposed wards similar to the existing ones. To better reflect community identity, it
15

Page 51

has excluded Clapham High Street from its proposed Ferndale ward and included it
in a Clapham-facing ward.
71 Its proposed Clapham Common ward has been expanded to include an area
north of Clapham Park Road to improve its forecast electoral equality. Its Clapham
Town ward has retained its focus on Clapham High Street and Clapham Old Town.
The Council have also strengthened the boundary of the existing Larkhall ward along
Jefferys Road and renamed it Larkhall & Clapham North ward to better reflect the
identities of the communities who live there.
72 The Green Group’s proposals made amendments to the existing wards in the
area but did not provide any detailed evidence in support of these proposals.
73 The Conservatives proposed a Clapham North and a Larkhall Park ward west
of the A3 Clapham ward as well as a Clapham Common and a Stockwell South
ward, both of which straddle the A3. The proposals would unite residents who live
around Clapham Common in a single ward. The Conservatives point to two local
community groups whose membership is drawn from residents on both sides of the
Common. Their proposed Clapham North ward was bordered to the east by
Clapham High Street and included a number of streets north of the railway line to
include those who identify with Clapham High Street station as a transport hub.
74 The Liberal Democrats proposed three wards in this area. Their proposals
utilised the A3 Clapham High Street and Long Road as boundaries between the
different Clapham wards. They argued that the proposed boundary between
Clapham and Stockwell is better placed along Union Road because it is ‘a point after
the end of continuous high street shopping parades for both Clapham and Stockwell
town centres’. Like the Conservatives, they included an area north of Clapham North
station in a ward with those in the south. As part of their proposals they also created
a Clapham Abbeville ward around Abbeville Village pointing out that it is a separate
community from those parts of Clapham facing onto the A3. They also stated that
Larkhall Park should be a shared amenity for residents around it and have excluded
it from any of their proposed Clapham wards.
75 A resident stated that there were parts of Clapham town centre in the existing
Larkhall ward which ‘belonged with the rest of Clapham High Street’. This was
supported by another resident who suggested that Clapham Town ought to include
parts of the existing Larkhall ward. One resident wanted St Luke’s Avenue (currently
in Ferndale ward) included in Clapham Town ward while two residents suggested a
ward created around Abbeville Village because of its distinctive nature.
76 We note that the Council in its submission recognised Clapham Abbeville as a
distinctive community and we have been persuaded by the desirability to include this
community in a ward of its own. We are also persuaded by the strength of Clapham

16

Page 52

Road/High Street both as a boundary and as a focus for the Clapham (and
Stockwell) communities on either side of it. On our virtual tour we noted that the
boundary between the existing Larkhall and Stockwell wards along Southville
separated residents of this narrow road from the park across the road from them.
77 Therefore, after careful consideration of the evidence we received, we are
basing our draft recommendations on the Liberal Democrats’ proposals. Under these
proposals, the high street and its shops remain a focus and a resource for both
Clapham East and West wards but also a strong and identifiably boundary. Adopting
these proposals also facilitates the creation of a Clapham Abbeville ward.
78
We note the Conservatives’ comments about Clapham Common having a
single set of councillors, but we also consider that the open space is a shared
amenity for the communities in that area.
79 With respect to our draft recommendations’ Clapham East ward, and
specifically the area between the railway line at Clapham North underground station
and Bedford Road, we are content that there are adequate transport links between
the north and south ‘halves’ of this ward along Clapham High Street and Clapham
Road as well as Bedford Road. The north-eastern boundary of our draft
recommendations includes Lambeth Hospital in this ward. We exclude the Pulross
Centre and residents of numbers 44–47 Pulross Road, whom we include in a
different ward with their closest neighbours, in line with the Council’s proposals.
80 Our Clapham West ward extends north of Clapham High Street station. We
considered the inclusion of Bromfelde, Chelsham, Gauden and Sibella roads north of
the railway line in a single ward with other roads further north. However, we are
content that residents of these roads will identify as part of Clapham and not Larkhall
or Stockwell, and that they will gravitate towards Clapham High Street and the train
and underground stations located there. We note that the Conservatives’ proposed
Clapham North ward also straddled the railway line and included part of this area.
81 Our draft recommendations are for a two-councillor Clapham Abbeville ward, a
two-councillor Clapham East ward and a three-councillor Clapham West ward. Our
Clapham Abbeville and Clapham East wards are forecast to have 6% and 1% more
electors, respectively, than the average for Lambeth in 2026. Clapham West ward is
forecast to have 6% more electors than the borough average, by 2026.
82 We specifically welcome comments on whether the south-western boundary of
our Clapham East ward should continue along the A24 Clapham Common South
Side instead of along Rookery Road.

17

Page 53

Stockwell East and Stockwell West & Larkhall
83 In addition to the borough-wide schemes we received submissions for this area
from Albert Square & St Stephen’s Association (ASSA), the Stockwell Village
Association and residents.
84 The Council proposed a Stockwell ward which united a number of estates
which had been previously split across multiple wards. Its proposal also
strengthened the boundary along Jeffreys Road and made a couple more
modifications to the existing ward.
85 The Conservatives’ proposals for Stockwell included a Stockwell North ward
and a Stockwell South ward reflecting those communities who identify as living in
Stockwell. Their proposed Stockwell North united the Stockwell Gardens Estate
while its southern counterpart included Stockwell Green and Stockwell Primary
School. The latter ward included Sibella, Bromfelde and Chelsham roads north of
Clapham High Street station and west of Clapham High Street. It also included
Clapham North underground station and a number of roads to its immediate north.
Separately, they proposed a Larkhall Park ward focused around Larkhall Park.
86 The Liberal Democrats’ proposals included a Stockwell East and a Stockwell
West & Larkhall ward. They argued that the area south of Caldwell Gardens Estate
between Brixton and Clapham roads should be in a Stockwell ward as this area
includes part of the Stockwell Park Conservation Area.
87 They explained that in addition to strong boundaries and communities that look
to Clapham Road, their proposed Stockwell West & Larkhall ward is also partly
focused on Larkhall Park and brings together those who use the amenities on
Wandsworth Road to the west of the area.
88 The ASSA submitted a proposal which created a single-councillor ward based
on the residents’ association and a two-councillor ward comprising the rest of the
existing Stockwell ward.
89 The Stockwell Village Association commented on proposals to make Landor
Road a boundary. We note that their main concern appeared to be that Stockwell
Green should be included in a single ward.
90 A resident suggested that the existing Ferndale ward be split to recognise
Stockwell Park. Another one suggested that an area west of South Lambeth Road
and south of Miles Street was better placed in a Stockwell ward. And another
resident proposed that the boundary for Stockwell should be moved west to run
along Brixton Road because the ‘triangle between Oval, Clapham Road, Brixton
Road and Durand Gardens is closer aligned to Stockwell and Oval rather than
Vassall’ to the east of Brixton Road.

18

Page 54

91 We note that all three schemes include an area around Durand Gardens in a
Stockwell ward as well as the area on both sides of the A3 Clapham Road. We also
note the Council’s strengthened boundary along Jeffreys Road. However, while we
agree that the boundary around Larkhall Park is a strong one, we also consider that
the park could be a shared amenity. We note that in this area both the
Conservatives’ and the Liberal Democrats’ proposals use Union Road and Larkhall
Rise as the boundary between Larkhall and the area north of Clapham North station.
Union Road is also a strong boundary.
92 We also consider that residents in the three roads mentioned above (paragraph
85) north of Clapham High Street station and included in the Conservatives’
proposed Stockwell South ward will most likely identify as living in Clapham and not
Stockwell. The same thing applies to those living immediately north of Clapham
North underground station.
93 In light of all this and the strength of Brixton and Clapham roads as boundaries,
we are adopting the Liberal Democrats’ proposals as part of our draft
recommendations. Stockwell East includes the Stockwell Park Conservation Area
and the Stockwell Park Residents’ Association area as proposed by at least one
resident.
94 We note that a number of the borough-wide schemes used a portion of Landor
Road and Stockwell Green as a boundary. However, the Council excluded Oak
Square from its Stockwell ward, arguing that these residents share the same
residents’ association with those on Stockwell Green to their immediate south. We
have therefore modified the boundaries in this specific area in accordance with the
Council’s proposals and included them in our Brixton North ward. However, we have
moved the proposed boundary along Landor Road and included residents of 110–
154 Landor Road in Stockwell East ward together with their neighbours on the other
side of the road. The modification around Oak Square has meant that the forecast
variance for Stockwell East is poorer but we believe this is justified by the better
reflection of community identities.
95 Stockwell East and Stockwell West & Larkhall wards are both two-councillor
wards forecast to have 10% fewer and 2% more electors that the borough average,
respectively, by 2026.
96 One resident proposed four councillors for Larkhall ward. It is our view that fourcouncillor wards do not aid effective and convenient local government, potentially
diluting the accountability of councillors to the electorate. We have therefore not
included any four-councillor wards as part of our draft recommendations.

19

Page 55

Brixton, Herne Hill, Myatts Field and Rush Common

Number of
councillors
3
3
2
3
2
3

Ward name
Brixton Acre Lane
Brixton North
Brixton Windrush
Herne Hill & Loughborough Junction
Myatts Field
Rush Common

20

Variance 2026
-1%
-3%
4%
-1%
6%
-5%

Page 56

Brixton Acre Lane and Rush Common
97 In addition to the borough-wide submissions we also received representations
from some residents.
98 The Council proposed one change to the existing Brixton Hill ward as part of its
proposals, explaining that the ward was a largely cohesive community. The change
moved residents of St Martin’s Estate, currently split across Brixton Hill and Tulse
Hill wards, into its proposed Tulse Hill ward. Its proposed Tulse Hill ward included
one additional modification to the existing ward moving the boundary from Hardel
Rise slightly west to facilitate its Rosendale ward to the east.
99 The Green Group retained the boundaries of the existing Brixton Hill ward and
made one minor modification to the existing Tulse Hill ward.
100 The Conservatives proposed a Brixton Town Hall ward bringing together an
area south of Acre Lane and Coldharbour Lane (west). It straddled the A23 Brixton
Hill and Effra Road. Their proposals also included a Brixton Windmill ward covering
much of the rest of the existing Brixton Hill ward including a section that crossed the
A23 Brixton Hill. Its Brockwell Park ward included electors to the north, south and
west of Brockwell Park.
101 The Liberal Democrats united Acre Lane in a single ward as they considered it
a ‘unifying town centre’. Their proposed Brixton Acre Lane ward did not extend south
of HM Brixton Prison. Unlike the Council’s Brixton Hill ward, it did not straddle the
A23 Brixton Hill. The Liberal Democrats’ proposed Rush Common ward to the east
of Brixton Hill was similar to the Council’s proposed Tulse Hill ward but did not
extend as far south or include St Martin’s Estate.
102 Two residents considered that the A23 Brixton Hill is a barrier between
communities in a way that Acre Lane is not. Another resident said that it made sense
for the A23 to be a boundary and that their community is not with the rest of the
existing Brixton Hill ward to the west of the A23 but with either the existing Tulse Hill
ward or ‘a ward that came further north from Streatham Hill’.
103 We are adopting the wards proposed by the Liberal Democrats, for three main
reasons: firstly, the wards do not straddle the A23 in this area reflecting what other
respondents have told us about its strength as a clear and identifiable boundary;
secondly, Acre Lane is united in a single ward; and, thirdly, they facilitate the
creation of a Tulse Hill-facing ward that we have been persuaded to adopt.
104 Our draft recommendations are therefore for a Brixton Acre Lane ward (which
includes HM Brixton Prison within its boundaries) and a Rush Common ward. Both
are three-councillor wards. Brixton Acre Lane is forecast to have approximately the

21

Page 57

same number of electors as the borough average by 2026. Rush Common ward is
forecast to have 5% fewer electors than the borough average in the same timescale.
105 We understand that Rush Common ward is named after the protected green
space running down the eastern side of Brixton Hill and around Josephine Avenue.
In addition to comments on the boundaries, we welcome comments on the name of
this ward.
Brixton North, Brixton Windrush, Myatts Field and Herne Hill & Loughborough
Junction
106 In addition to the borough-wide schemes, we received submissions from the
Lilford Area Residents’ Association (LARA), Loughborough Junction Action Group
(LJAG), Vassall & Coldharbour Forum (VCF) and residents.
107 The Council utilised the boundaries of a number of estates to determine the
boundary between its proposed Myatt’s Field & North Brixton ward and Brixton
Central ward. These proposals included modifications to the rest of the existing
Coldharbour ward including one that united all of Shakespeare Road in a Herne Hill
ward to the east. This placed the whole of Loughborough Junction station in a single
ward and the Council proposed reflecting this in the ward name by naming it Herne
Hill & Loughborough Junction ward. It also proposed that aside from a couple of
modifications in the south, the rest of the existing Coldharbour ward should form a
new ward called Brixton Central.
108 The Green Group’s proposals included four wards in this area: Coldharbour,
Herne Hill, Mandela and Van Gogh wards, with different boundaries from the other
schemes but with good electoral equality and seemingly good boundaries. However,
as we did not receive detailed community evidence in support of the wards, we do
not propose adopting these proposals.
109 The Conservatives created a Myatt’s Fields ward and a Brixton Central ward
and for the most part proposed retaining the existing boundary along Loughborough
and Lilford roads. They explained that their proposed Myatt’s Fields ward included
the area where most people ‘identify with Myatt’s Fields as their “area”’. However,
they excluded residents of Akerman, Claribel and Evandale roads from this ward. In
addition, they proposed a Herne Hill ward minus Brockwell Park and Herne Hill
station, which they included in a separate Brockwell Park ward. Their intention was
to unite residents around the park in a single ward.
110 The Liberal Democrats’ proposed Myatts Field ward had similar boundaries to
the ward proposed by the Conservatives. The main difference being that in this
proposal the longstanding boundary along Loughborough and Lilford roads was
maintained in its entirety without excluding the three roads mentioned in paragraph

22

Page 58

109. They argued that this was a coherent ward with strong boundaries made up of a
mix of smaller estates.
111 The Liberal Democrats’ Herne Hill & Brixton East ward was similar to the
Council’s Herne Hill & Loughborough Junction ward, although they proposed uniting
Shakespeare Road in a Brixton-facing ward. With regards to their proposed Brixton
North ward, they stated that it included communities north of central Brixton who
identify with Brixton and noted that the Council’s proposed ‘Brixton-based Ferndale
ward’ had similar boundaries in the north-west of this proposed ward.
112 LARA supported the inclusion of Loughborough Junction in the ward name as
proposed by the Council for an area covering the existing Herne Hill ward. The LJAG
expressed support for the inclusion of Shakespeare Road, the Loughborough
Junction commercial area and the station wholly in a single ward. However, it
objected to the inclusion of certain areas south of Loughborough and Lilford roads
(e.g. Hertford Estate and Elam Street Open Space) into a ‘ward that looks to Myatts
Field, Longfield Hall and the new Oval Quarter Centre’. VCF was concerned that a
drastic ward change in the Vassall and Coldharbour wards could disrupt the joint
working of the organisations it represented.
113 Two residents of Shakespeare Road stated that they had always identified as
living in Herne Hill and not Brixton. One went on to explain that a Herne Hill
councillor had even acted on their behalf at times. Another resident suggested that
the southern boundary of the existing Coldharbour ward should be rationalised so
that it does not ‘cut through streets somewhat randomly’ and that the northern parts
of the ward could be moved into a different ward ‘to maintain the community around
Coldharbour Lane and the Electric Avenue’ areas.
114 One resident considered that living on the west side of Coldharbour Lane they
did not feel connected to the communities to ‘the north side of Brixton Road and
Ferndale Road’. Another resident proposed making Loughborough Junction a onecouncillor ward and the rest of the (existing Herne Hill) ward making up a Herne Hill
& Brockwell Park ward. Another resident considered that the Council’s proposed
boundary between its Brixton Central and Myatt’s Field & North Brixton wards would
not be ‘understood by anyone without a knowledge of the history of Lambeth housing
management’.
115 After considering the representations made to us, we have based our draft
recommendations Brixton North, Brixton Windrush and Myatts Field wards on the
Liberal Democrats’ warding pattern in this area. However, we have adopted the
Council’s proposals for a Herne Hill & Loughborough Junction ward as part of our
draft recommendations.

23

Page 59

116 Our Brixton North ward includes the community facilities and area highlighted
by the LJAG and retains them in a Brixton-facing ward. It also reflects the comments
about moving the northern area of the existing Coldharbour ward into another ward
for community identity reasons. Furthermore, the western side of the ward across the
A23 also includes a community that we understand identifies as Brixton. We note
that this ward crosses the A23 and although we acknowledge its desirability as a
boundary, we note that the Conservatives’ proposed Brixton Central ward also
crossed the A23 in this area, albeit not to the same extent.
117 Our proposed Myatts Field ward has strong boundaries and good community
identity centred around Eythorne and Myatt’s Fields parks. Nevertheless, we are
specifically inviting comments and community evidence to help us determine
whether to exclude Akerman, Claribel and Evandale roads and include them in a
ward to the south as proposed by the Conservatives. This would produce acceptable
forecast variances of -1% and 2% for Brixton North and Myatts Field wards
respectively. We also note that there are a number of different spellings for Myatts
Field. We therefore welcome comments on which one it ought to be.
118 Our proposed Brixton Windrush ward’s eastern, southern and most of its
western boundaries are the same as the Council’s Brixton Central ward, the main
difference being that it does not extend as far north as Villa and Angell roads. It
retains Coldharbour Lane right up to the junction with Shakespeare Road in a single
ward. We note that while respondents did not support a ward in this area being
named Brixton Central, there were other suggestions e.g. Markets or Central
Square. We welcome comments on the name of this ward.
119 As mentioned above, we are adopting the Council’s proposals for Herne Hill &
Loughborough Junction ward. However, we note the comments made by both the
Green Group and the Liberal Democrats with regards to the ward name, including
that many residents and areas that identify as Loughborough Junction are excluded
from the ward. They assert that this could be confusing. We therefore welcome
specific comments on the name of this ward, including whether it ought to be named
Herne Hill & Brixton East as proposed by the Liberal Democrats.
120 Brixton Windrush and Myatts Field wards are both two-councillor wards
forecast to have 4% and 6% more electors, respectively, than the average for
Lambeth Council, by 2026. Brixton North and Herne Hill & Loughborough Junction
wards will each be represented by three councillors. They are forecast to have 3%
and 1% fewer electors, respectively, than the borough average, by 2026.

24

Page 60

Clapham Park and Thornton

Number of
councillors
3
2

Ward name
Clapham Park
Thornton

Variance 2026
-4%
3%

Clapham Park and Thornton
121 In addition to the borough-wide schemes for this area, we received submissions
from a number of residents.
122 The Council pointed out that the Clapham Park Estate is split over three wards
and its proposals would unite a small part currently located in the existing Streatham
Hill ward with the much larger part of the estate in the existing Thornton ward. It
explained that the new community centre for the estate was located ‘at the centre of
this area at the crossroad of King’s Avenue and the South Circular’.
123 The Green Group also united two parts of Clapham Park Estate in its proposed
Thornton ward. The southern boundary ran from Emmanuel Road along Kirkstall

25

Page 61

Road and Telford Avenue and utilised the A23 Streatham Hill as a boundary. At the
same time, it excluded an area of the existing ward, south of the A205 Poynders
Road and instead included it in its proposals for Clapham Common.
124 The Conservatives’ proposed Thornton ward does not include the area around
Mullins Place and Tilson Gardens, east of Kings Avenue. Unlike the Council, it
excluded Fortrose Gardens from this ward. Furthermore, they explained that in order
to include the main parts of Clapham Park Estate in Thornton ward, they proposed
moving the south-eastern boundary from running along Clarence Avenue to the west
to run behind properties on the eastern side of Rodenhurst Road.
125 The Liberal Democrats’ proposals included a separate ward with Clapham Park
Estate as its focus as well as a Thornton ward. Like the Conservatives’ these
proposals also unite residents on both sides of Clarence Avenue. They explained
that residents on the west side were physically separated from the Abbeville area
and that they look on to Clapham Park Estate. They also argued that Poynders
Gardens Estate looks to Clapham and was separate from the Hyde Farm area of
Thornton, which they stated looks towards Balham. Their proposed Thornton ward
united Telford Park and Hyde Farm, areas that they considered to share numerous
transport links and shops with their main open space being Tooting Bec Common.
126 Many residents opposed the Council’s proposals to unite Clapham Park Estate
in a Thornton ward. They objected to how the estate was being managed by
Metropolitan Thames Valley (MTVH). Residents of the estate in the existing
Streatham Hill ward did not want to be included in Thornton ward because they felt
that the councillors for the existing Streatham Hill ward represented their needs well.
127 Nevertheless, a number of residents supported the unification of the estate in a
single ward. For instance, a resident suggested that it would be beneficial if the
entire estate – currently split across three wards – was united in a single ward.
Another resident supported the transfer of the part in Streatham Hill into Thornton
ward adding that the same set of councillors would then represent all the parts of the
estate due to undergo regeneration. One resident specifically highlighted the fact
that under the Council’s proposals part of the estate remained in Brixton Hill ward.
128 Some residents suggested that if there was a need to reduce the number of
councillors, then Thornton ward ought to be reduced in size as it was ‘rather
amorphous’. One resident stated that it ‘had no centre’ and was not cohesive.
Another resident suggested the creation of a new Thornton ward, based on Hyde
Farm Estate and Telford Park Estate. A further resident explained that there was a
long-standing joint ecclesiastical parish of St Thomas with St Stephen that linked
these two communities together.

26

Page 62

129 Having considered all the proposals and comments we received, including the
comments about parts of the Clapham Park Estate remaining in Brixton Hill ward
under the Council’s proposals, we have based our draft recommendations in this
area on the Liberal Democrats’ proposed wards. This will unite both sides of
Clarence Avenue as proposed by the Conservatives. It also fulfils the Council’s
objectives with regards to Clapham Park Estate but goes further by uniting all of the
estate in a Clapham Park ward. We consider that this better reflects community
identity and will enable a focus on the needs of residents of the estate and their
immediate neighbours, thereby facilitating effective and convenient local
government. Though we note the comments made by residents about MTVH, we are
unable to consider them as they are outside the remit of this review.
130 Our draft recommendations also reflect the comments made about the
suitability of including the Hyde Farm and Telford Park communities in a single ward.
131 Our draft recommendations are for a three-councillor Clapham Park ward and a
two-councillor Thornton ward. Clapham Park ward is forecast to have 4% fewer
electors and Thornton ward 3% more electors than the average for Lambeth Council
by 2026.
132 We received a number of submissions which asked us to move the Hyde Farm
Estate from this borough to the London Borough of Wandsworth. We are not able to
change the external boundary of the borough as part of this review.

27

Page 63

Gipsy Hill, Knight’s Hill, Rosendale and St Martin’s

Number of
councillors
2
3
2
2

Ward name
Gipsy Hill
Knight’s Hill
Rosendale
St Martin’s

Variance 2026
2%
2%
-3%
1%

St Martin’s
133 We received additional submissions from the Deronda Estate Tenants’ &
Residents’ Association (DETRA), the Norwood Action Group, Norwood Forum and
residents for the area around Tulse Hill station.
134 The Council made minor modifications to the existing wards in this area. The
Council’s proposals united St Martin’s Estate in its proposed Tulse Hill ward and
moved electors west of Hardel Rise out of the ward. The Green Group extended the

28

Page 64

boundary of the existing Tulse Hill ward to include the area around Hardel Rise and
Perran Road.
135 The Conservatives and Liberal Democrats both proposed a ward focused on
the Tulse Hill area, albeit with different boundaries. DETRA pointed out that its
members identified with living in Tulse Hill and drew attention to the confusion of
having a Tulse Hill ward that didn’t include them. It also stated that the estate had
more in common with St Martin’s and Tulse Hill estates and identified with the
general neighbourhood of Tulse Hill.
136 The Norwood Action Group proposed a pattern of wards which included a Tulse
Hill South ward. This ward included an area around Tulse Hill station and extended
east to the borough boundary, north to Brockwell Park but it excluded St Martin’s
Estate.
137 A number of residents advocated for a Tulse Hill ward centred around the
station. One example was a resident who highlighted the fact that the Council’s
proposals split the area that identified as Tulse Hill across three wards and
suggested that ‘Tulse Hill, the Deronda Triangle and St Martin’s Estate’ ought to be
included in the same ward and ‘not gathered into Streatham or Brixton’. The resident
explained that Tulse Hill, like Herne Hill and West Norwood, is now a small centre in
its own right.
138 Another resident suggested that the existing Tulse Hill ward ought to be split
‘between Brixton and Tulse Hill’ as people at either end did not view themselves as
the same community, with those in the south gravitating towards the Tulse Hill
station area.
139 We note the near consensus about a community around Tulse Hill station. We
also note that the existing Tulse Hill ward excludes a significant part of the area
known locally as Tulse Hill but includes an area to the north that identifies with
Brixton. The existing Streatham Hill ward also includes residents who identify as
living in Tulse Hill. Both the Conservatives and the Liberal Democrats proposed a
ward focused on the community based in the Tulse Hill area and we have been
persuaded to create a ward focused on this area as part of our draft
recommendations. However, we have not been persuaded that this ward should
extend as far east to the borough boundary as proposed by the Norwood Action
Group for its Tulse Hill South ward.
140 We have based our draft recommendations on the St Martin’s ward proposed
by the Liberal Democrats, because it is focused on the Tulse Hill area and also does
not split St Martin’s Estate across wards. We have made a minor modification which
unites all the electors on Palace Road in this ward.

29

Page 65

141 The Liberal Democrats proposed the name St Martin’s and we have also
adopted this name but welcome comments on it. We understand that the area is
known by many as Tulse Hill and that the name is widely applied to locations and
infrastructure within the ward. We also recognise that the Council intends to initiate a
community-wide discussion about changing the name of the amenities in this area.
We review councils about every 14–15 years. When we allocate names to wards we
recognise that they may need to change before the next review. To enable this, in
the five years following a review, if a new preference emerges a council may seek
the Commission’s agreement to change the name of a ward to reflect community
identity and sentiment. After five years, a council itself may change a ward name
without seeking the agreement of the Commission.
142 Our draft recommendations St Martin’s ward will be represented by two
councillors and is forecast to have 1% more electors than the borough average by
2026.
Gipsy Hill, Knight’s Hill and Rosendale
143 In addition to the borough-wide submissions, we received submissions from
Lambeth Council Labour Group, Knight’s Hill Branch Labour Party, Helen Hayes MP,
Councillor Pete Elliott, local organisations and residents.
144 The Council proposed expanding the existing Thurlow Park ward to the south
and renaming it Rosendale after the road that runs through the length of the ward.
The southern boundary of this ward would move from Robson Road to the southern
boundary of West Norwood Cemetery and Crematorium on to Carnac Street. It
submitted two proposals for Gipsy and Knight’s Hill wards which each entailed one of
the wards being represented by two councillors. The Council stated a preference for
its Option A i.e. a three-councillor Gipsy Hill ward and a two-councillor Knight’s Hill
ward. It explained that under this proposal, both wards had strong boundaries. In
addition to the Gipsy Hill and Crystal Palace neighbourhoods, Gipsy Hill ward would
also have a strong West Norwood identity, ‘anchoring the ward in Lambeth’. This
option was also supported by the Lambeth Council Labour Group.
145 The Council’s Option B was for a two-councillor Gipsy Hill ward and threecouncillor Knight’s Hill ward. The Council stated that this takes in much of the West
Norwood part of Gipsy Hill ward and brings together in Knight’s Hill ward a coherent
West Norwood area south of the town centre. The Council also stated with regards
to Gipsy Hill in this option that it reflects the community as it rises up the hill, ‘wholly
containing the Gipsy Hill and Crystal Palace areas found within Lambeth’. However,
it expressed some concern that there was a risk of this ward becoming more
disconnected from the rest of the borough. Option B was supported by Helen Hayes
MP and the Knight’s Hill Branch Labour Party.

30

Page 66

146 The MP gave a number of reasons for her support, including that Norwood Park
was a natural boundary between communities which were naturally oriented towards
Gipsy Hill and Crystal Palace on the one hand, and West Norwood on the other. She
also noted that the proposal strengthens the identity of Gipsy Hill as part of Crystal
Palace compared with the existing arrangement which pulled Gipsy Hill ward
towards three different community centres.
147 The Green Group expressed concerns about proposals to remove Norwood
Park and/or Norwood Cemetery from Gipsy Park and felt that local people and
identities would be better served by expanding the ward into Knight’s Hill or Thurlow
Park. Its proposals included a two-councillor Thurlow Park ward and three-councillor
Gipsy Hill & Knight’s Hill ward.
148 The Conservatives’ proposed West Dulwich ward expanded the existing
Thurlow ward further south to Chapel Road and the railway line to include residents
that they say identify as living in West Dulwich. It excluded residents in polling
districts NLA (around Deronda Road) and some in NLD (Avenue Park and
Harpenden roads) whom they say identify with Tulse Hill. Their Norwood Park ward
was made up of the rest of Gipsy Hill ward south of Chapel Road and the railway line
north of Norwood Park. It extended west to A215 Knight’s Hill and was centred
around Norwood Park. They proposed a two-councillor Knight’s Hill ward.
149 The Liberal Democrats expressed support for the Council’s Option B for Gipsy
Hill and Knight’s Hill wards because this option ‘reduces the division of West
Norwood Town Centre’. They considered Gipsy Hill as an area focused on Upper
Norwood and the residential area around Gipsy Hill. Their Rosendale ward was
based on the residential communities along Rosendale Road ‘from the edge of
Herne Hill to West Dulwich’. It excluded the communities immediately around Tulse
Hill station.
150 Councillor Elliott argued for the retention or expansion of Gipsy Hill ward to
enable residents to keep their current identity. He also pointed out that there are
future plans beyond 2026 for the regeneration of Central Hill Estate which would
increase the electorate.
151 Norwood Action Group proposed four two-councillor wards for the area, stating
that each of the new wards ‘would be much stronger on community interests and
identity’. These proposals included a Tulse Hill South ward, but with significantly
different boundaries from our St Martin’s ward for which we had strong community
evidence. We were not persuaded to incorporate this scheme into our draft
recommendations.
152 Norwood Forum, while appreciating the development in the north of the
borough, argued against a reduction in representation in the Norwood area. It

31

Page 67

proposed extending the existing wards in the area west and north. It also advocated
the inclusion of the town centre in all three wards, the inclusion of St Martin’s Estate
in Thurlow Park/Rosendale ward and the exclusion of the area between Hillside
Road, A205/Christchurch Road, Norwood Road and the railway line (polling district
STE) from Streatham Hill ward. However, it went on to say that if there had to be a
reduction in councillors, it would support the Council’s second option.
153 Station to Station, the Business Improvement District for Tulse Hill and West
Norwood, expressed support for the town centre to be split across the three wards in
this area because it meant that it would continue to benefit from different skill sets
and ‘two different political affiliations’.
154 A resident submitted a three-ward scheme for this area. Under these proposals,
Gipsy Hill and Knight’s Hill (renamed West Norwood) wards continued as threecouncillor wards while Thurlow Park (renamed Rosendale) ward is a two-councillor
ward. We note that the proposed wards had good electoral equality and were backed
up by some community evidence. However, the proposed Rosendale ward included
a significant part of our draft recommendations St Martin’s ward which had strong
community evidence. Therefore, we were not persuaded to adopt this scheme.
155 Another resident suggested the creation of two two-councillor and two-single
councillor wards in this area but did not provide any community evidence or
information about where the boundaries should be.
156 One resident felt that if the Council’s Option A was adopted, it would include
part of the existing Knight’s Hill ward which bore no natural relationship with Gipsy
Hill. On the other hand, they believed that Option B ‘recognises the natural
communities defined by geography’. This sentiment was expressed in some other
submissions.
157 From the evidence presented, including by Lambeth Council, we have been
persuaded that Option B preserves the identity of the communities in both Gipsy Hill
and West Norwood and have based our draft recommendations on this option. We
are content that this option better reflects the Gipsy Hill community and includes
identifiable boundaries for the ward. However, we have made one adjustment and
run the south-western boundary of Gipsy Hill ward from the railway line through
Norwood Park and not along Salter’s Hill to reflect the shared nature of the park. We
specifically welcome comments on this modification.
158 Our draft recommendations Rosendale ward is based on the Liberal
Democrats’ proposals. Like the Conservatives’ proposals it excludes the area around
Tulse Hill station. We have adopted the Council’s boundary around West Norwood
Cemetery and Crematorium which excludes Dunbar Street, Dunelm Grove and
Pilgrim Hill from this ward.

32

Page 68

159 Our draft recommendations are for a two-councillor Gipsy Hill ward, a threecouncillor Knight’s Hill ward and a two-councillor Rosendale ward. Gipsy Hill and
Knight’s Hill wards are both forecast to have 2% more electors than the borough
average by 2026. Rosendale ward is forecast to have 3% fewer electors than the
average for Lambeth Council, by 2026.
160 We note that the Conservatives proposed a West Dulwich ward in the area
included in our Rosendale ward. This name was also proposed by some residents.
We also note that a resident proposed renaming Knight’s Hill ward and calling it
West Norwood ward. As well as the boundaries of the wards, we welcome
comments on the proposed names.

33

Page 69

Streatham

Number of
councillors
1
2
2
3
2

Ward name
Streatham Common
Streatham Hill Leigham
Streatham South West
Streatham St Leonard’s
Streatham Wells

34

Variance 2026
-2%
-1%
4%
-3%
-2%

Page 70

Streatham South West, Streatham St Leonard’s and Streatham Wells
161 In addition to the borough-wide schemes, we received submissions from
Streatham South Branch Labour Party, Streatham Wells councillors, the Rector of
the Parish of Streatham and residents. Of the more than 95 additional submissions
we received for Streatham, over 65 of them were about this specific area. The
overriding issue pertained to the Council’s proposals for St Leonard’s ward.
162 The Council proposed a two-councillor St Leonard’s ward and two threecouncillor wards for Streatham Wells and Streatham South. The existing Streatham
South ward is forecast to have 12% fewer electors per councillor than the average
for Lambeth Council by 2026. The Council explained the challenges it encountered
in trying to create a two-councillor Streatham South ward to address the poor
forecast electoral equality. It explained that it had considered making it a twocouncillor ward, but it expressed concerns this would isolate some residents from the
rest of their existing ward and community. The Council therefore proposed
expanding the existing Streatham South ward to include the residents south of Natal
Road.
163 Alongside this, in order to ensure good electoral equality and strong boundaries
in the residual St Leonard’s ward, it proposed moving an area between Gleneldon
and Stanthorpe roads (‘the Stanthorpe Triangle’), east of the A23 Streatham High
Road, from St Leonard’s into Streatham Wells ward. Streatham South Branch
Labour Party and Streatham Wells councillors supported the Council’s proposals.
The latter supported the proposals for their ward partly because it would continue to
be represented by three councillors, would reflect ever closer community ties with
the Stanthorpe Triangle and that in the east it would unite both sites of Dunraven
School in this ward.
164 The Conservatives’ proposals for St Leonard’s mirrored the Council’s with one
small difference – residents on both sides of Natal Road were united in this ward.
They also proposed a Streatham Vale ward in the very south of the borough which
included part of the area south of the Common, specifically the roads south of
Heybridge Avenue up to Copley Park. The Conservatives pointed to the fact that the
existing ward extends ‘so far south of Streatham Common’ as evidence that
residents ‘in the most southerly part of the borough as a whole – perceive
themselves as residents of Streatham Vale’. Their Streatham Wells ward’s northeastern boundary ran along Leigham Court Road and the ward did not extend as far
south as the existing ward.
165 Both the Green Group and the Liberal Democrats proposed retaining the
existing boundaries of St Leonard’s ward, crossing the A23 to include the ‘Stanhope
Triangle’ at St Leonard’s Junction. Like the Conservatives, they both used Leigham
Court Road as a boundary for their proposals for Streatham Wells ward. However,
whereas the Green Group’s Streatham Wells ward extended south to the borough

35

Page 71

boundary and included a small number of roads, west of the A23, the Liberal
Democrats’ southern boundary ran along Russell’s Footpath (behind the properties
on the southern side of Oakdale Road), Hill Path and the eastern side of Streatham
Common North.
166 In relation to St Leonard’s ward, the Green Group explained that the Stanthorpe
Triangle Residents’ Association has campaigned alongside other stakeholders to
make St Leonard’s Junction safer. It argued that the Council’s proposals would sever
the ties between ‘the ancient parish of St Leonard’s and Streatham Village’, who
have a very active and engaged community. It also considered that the proposals
would break up the ‘well-formed communities between Streatham Station and
Streatham Common Station’.
167 The Liberal Democrats considered that in Streatham, the place to cross the
A23 was at St Leonard’s Junction where there was a sense of shared
neighbourhood on both sides of the road, where it was least likely to be seen as a
physical boundary and where there was evidence of regular and frequent footfall
crossing the road.
168 They also argued that residents in the current SVD polling district (which
includes the area between Streatham station and Streatham Common station also
mentioned by the Green Group) were united around traffic management issues.
They considered that due to Estreham Road being blocked to most traffic, under the
Council’s proposals, residents of Barrow and Lewin roads would be represented by
councillors overwhelmingly elected by residents south of the barrier who did not
share the same issues. In support of their proposed Streatham South West ward,
they stated that there was little evidence of strong links between the communities on
either side of the A23 south of Streatham Common.
169 The Rector of the Parish of Streatham based at St Leonard’s Church
highlighted some of the issues facing the community and the work of the current
councillors and opposed the Council’s proposals to reduce the number of councillors
in St Leonard’s.
170 A few residents supported the Council’s proposals with one resident of the
Stanthorpe Triangle citing the change in traffic permissions on the High Street as a
reason why residents now drive through Streatham Wells to get home when the
traffic on the high street was bad. However, most residents objected to any plans
that excluded Stanthorpe Triangle from St Leonard’s ward and the reduction in the
number of councillors in the area. Some said that the Stanthorpe Triangle was an
integral part of St Leonard’s. One resident of the Stanthorpe Triangle explained that
their roads were somewhat cut off from the rest of Streatham Wells and that most
residents would gravitate towards the A23 Streatham High Street and the area

36

Page 72

around it rather than Valley Road in Streatham Wells to the east. Another resident
considered that St Leonard’s has ‘a strong sense of a centre with its old church and
other religious buildings, shopping, community centres and transport links’.
171 A number of respondents explained that the removal of the southern part of the
ward would divide the cohesive community of the ‘Ferrers Triangle’ (consisting of
Natal, Hambro, Ferrers, and Ellora roads) between two wards. We heard that
together with Lewin Road they ‘operate as a block’ and that Greyhound Road was a
more identifiable boundary. We have considered the submissions we received about
this area and have been persuaded that the communities who are resident on these
roads should be included in the same ward.
172 We note the strength of the Council’s and Conservatives’ proposed boundary
along the A23 Streatham High Street. However, adopting this boundary and retaining
the southern boundary for St Leonard’s ward produces poor electoral variance of
around -12%. In light of this and the strength of what we were told in the submissions
we received for this area, we have been persuaded to retain the existing boundaries
of St Leonard’s ward. We are content that there is a community that stretches across
both sides of the high street around the Stanthorpe Triangle.
173 We are also content that Leigham Court Road is an identifiable boundary. This
will exclude the area around Hitherfield Road from Streatham Wells ward in line with
submissions we received about Streatham Hill (see paragraph 180). We considered
adopting the Council’s proposed boundary for the north-east of Streatham Wells
ward around Mountearl Gardens. However, this produced a forecast variance of 15%
for Streatham Wells ward and -15% for the Streatham Hill ward to the north.
174 We have therefore adopted the proposals submitted by the Liberal Democrats
with a minor modification to unite residents on Greyhound Road in St Leonard’s
ward. We invite comments on this, including whether they should be united in the
ward to the south.
175 Our draft recommendations are for a two-councillor Streatham South West
ward, a three-councillor Streatham St Leonard’s ward and a two-member Streatham
Wells ward. Streatham South West is forecast to have 4% more electors than the
average for Lambeth Council. Streatham St Leonard’s and Streatham Wells are
forecast to have 3% and 2% fewer electors respectively than the borough average
by 2026.
176 We have adopted the names proposed by the Liberal Democrats for our wards
and welcome comments on them. Specifically, with regards to Streatham South
West, we note that the Conservatives used the name Streatham Vale and the
Council proposed the name Streatham South.

37

Page 73

177 We note that the Green Group proposed a Streatham Wells ward that extended
south of the ward to the borough boundary. The Liberal Democrat proposals also
included a second option with similar boundaries, the only difference being that it
does not include any area west of the A23. We welcome comments especially from
residents of the area known as Streatham Lodge (polling district SWA) south of
Streatham Common on this proposal.
Streatham Hill Leigham
178 Most of the submissions that mentioned Streatham Hill were in relation to
objections to the transfer of part of Clapham Park Estate into Thornton ward.
However, as explained in paragraph 129, we have been persuaded to unite the
estate and create a Clapham Park ward in that part of the borough.
179 The Council’s proposal (supported by Streatham Wells councillors) moved the
area between Leigham Vale, the railway line (Leigham Junction) and Mount Nod
Road from Streatham Wells into Streatham Hill. The Council stated that this area
was ‘somewhat separate from the rest of Streatham Wells ward’ and that the
housing was similar to what was in Streatham Hill ward.
180 A number of respondents including the Conservatives, the Green Group and
Liberal Democrats considered that the area around Hitherfield Road and Mountearl
Gardens (polling district SUA) in its entirety was more appropriately placed in
Streatham Hill ward due to its transport connections and community identity. There is
now a low-traffic neighbourhood linking the polling district area with Streatham Hill.
This area was larger than the area highlighted by the Council in paragraph 179 and
extended west to Leigham Court Road. Still in the same area, one resident pointed
out that the Streatham Hill Estate and the neighbouring roads were oddly placed in
Streatham Wells ward. Another resident, of Hitherfield Road, echoed this sentiment
and explained that their community was in Streatham Hill.
181 We note that there was agreement that all or a part of polling district SUA’s
community was with the rest of Streatham Hill to the north. We contemplated using
the Council’s proposed boundary but considered that a boundary along Leigham
Court Road was much more identifiable. In addition, as mentioned in paragraph 173,
adopting the Council’s proposals in light of our draft recommendations in Clapham
Park and Thornton wards, would produce poor electoral variances.
182 Therefore, we have based our draft recommendations for this area on the
Liberal Democrats’ proposals and have named it accordingly. Our two-councillor
Streatham Hill Leigham ward is forecast to have 1% fewer electors than the average
for Lambeth Council by 2026. We consider that this ward has strong boundaries,
reflects communities and facilitate our draft recommendations elsewhere.

38

Page 74

183 The Liberal Democrats stated that the name of the ward reflects the inclusion of
Leigham Vale and Leigham Court Estate in this ward. We welcome comments on
this.
Streatham Common
184 We have based our Streatham Common ward on the Liberal Democrats
proposals.
185 A common issue raised by the Council, the Conservatives and the Liberal
Democrats was the possible isolation of the Streatham Lodge community. The
Council therefore included the Common and Streatham Lodge in its Streatham
South ward and this was supported by the Streatham South Branch Labour Party.
However, we did not adopt its proposals for Streatham South as mentioned in
paragraph 174. The Green Group included Streatham Lodge in its proposals for
Streatham Wells ward as alluded to in paragraph 165.
186 The Conservatives and the Liberal Democrats both created wards which
focused on Streatham Common. Although with different boundaries, both proposals
included communities to the south as well as to the north of the Common. However,
the Conservatives’ proposal split the Streatham Lodge community in the south
across two wards, and we have not been persuaded to do so. We consider that this
community east of the A23 and south of the Common are one community and should
be included in a single ward.
187 While a resident pointed to Streatham Common (‘the Common’) as a good
boundary, some others felt that residents on the north and south sides of the
Common should be included in the same ward. One resident explained that these
residents ‘on either side’ identify ‘most strongly with the Common as their focal point’
and therefore advocated for a ward with the Common at its centre.
188 Our draft recommendations include a single-councillor Streatham Common
ward forecast to have 2% fewer electors than the borough average by 2026. We
note the Council’s preference for not having any single-councillor wards.
Nevertheless, in this instance we believe that this ward reflects the community best
in this area and we have not been persuaded that there is a two- or three-member
ward that would better reflect communities.
189 We have been persuaded that the Common is a strong focal point and shared
facility for the communities on either side of it. We also note that including Streatham
Lodge in a three-councillor Streatham Wells ward is an option, but we are not
persuaded that the residents have enough in common with the area to the very north
of Streatham Wells. However, we welcome further views on this during this
consultation as mentioned in paragraph 177. We are inviting comments on this,
including from residents of the Streatham Lodge area.

39

Page 75

40

Page 76

Conclusions
190 The table below provides a summary as to the impact of our draft
recommendations on electoral equality in Lambeth, referencing the 2020 and 2026
electorate figures. A full list of wards, names and their corresponding electoral
variances can be found at Appendix A to the back of this report. An outline map of
the wards is provided at Appendix B.

Summary of electoral arrangements
Draft recommendations
2020

2026

Number of councillors

63

63

Number of electoral wards

26

26

3,883

4,072

Number of wards with a variance more than 10%
from the average

4

0

Number of wards with a variance more than 20%
from the average

1

0

Average number of electors per councillor

Draft recommendations
Lambeth Council should be made up of 63 councillors serving 26 wards
representing one single-councillor ward, 13 two-councillor wards and 12 threecouncillor wards. The details and names are shown in Appendix A and illustrated
on the large maps accompanying this report.
Mapping
Sheet 1, Map 1 shows the proposed wards for Lambeth Council.
You can also view our draft recommendations for Lambeth on our interactive maps
at www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk

41

Page 77

42

Page 78

Have your say
191 The Commission has an open mind about its draft recommendations. Every
representation we receive will be considered, regardless of who it is from or whether
it relates to the whole borough or just a part of it.
192 If you agree with our recommendations, please let us know. If you don’t think
our recommendations are right for Lambeth, we want to hear alternative proposals
for a different pattern of wards.
193 Our website has a special consultation area where you can explore the maps
and draw your own proposed boundaries. You can find it at
www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk
194 Submissions can also be made by emailing reviews@lgbce.org.uk or by
writing to:
Review Officer (Lambeth)
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England
PO Box 133
Blyth
NE24 9FE
195 The Commission aims to propose a pattern of wards for Lambeth which
delivers:
•
•
•

Electoral equality: each local councillor represents a similar number of
voters.
Community identity: reflects the identity and interests of local communities.
Effective and convenient local government: helping your council discharge
its responsibilities effectively.

196 A good pattern of wards should:
•
•
•
•

Provide good electoral equality, with each councillor representing, as
closely as possible, the same number of voters.
Reflect community interests and identities and include evidence of
community links.
Be based on strong, easily identifiable boundaries.
Help the council deliver effective and convenient local government.

43

Page 79

197 Electoral equality:
•

Does your proposal mean that councillors would represent roughly the
same number of voters as elsewhere in Lambeth?

198 Community identity:
•
•
•

Community groups: is there a parish council, residents’ association or
other group that represents the area?
Interests: what issues bind the community together or separate it from
other parts of your area?
Identifiable boundaries: are there natural or constructed features which
make strong boundaries for your proposals?

199 Effective local government:
•
•
•

Are any of the proposed wards too large or small to be represented
effectively?
Are the proposed names of the wards appropriate?
Are there good links across your proposed wards? Is there any form of
public transport?

200 Please note that the consultation stages of an electoral review are public
consultations. In the interests of openness and transparency, we make available for
public inspection full copies of all representations the Commission takes into account
as part of a review. Accordingly, copies of all representations will be placed on
deposit at our offices and on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk A list of respondents
will be available from us on request after the end of the consultation period.
201 If you are a member of the public and not writing on behalf of a council or
organisation we will remove any personal identifiers. This includes your name, postal
or email addresses, signatures or phone numbers from your submission before it is
made public. We will remove signatures from all letters, no matter who they are from.
202 In the light of representations received, we will review our draft
recommendations and consider whether they should be altered. As indicated earlier,
it is therefore important that all interested parties let us have their views and
evidence, whether or not they agree with the draft recommendations. We will then
publish our final recommendations.
203 After the publication of our final recommendations, the changes we have
proposed must be approved by Parliament. An Order – the legal document which
brings into force our recommendations – will be laid in draft in Parliament. The draft

44

Page 80

Order will provide for new electoral arrangements to be implemented at the all-out
elections for Lambeth Council in 2022.

45

Page 81

46

Page 82

Equalities
204 The Commission has looked at how it carries out reviews under the guidelines
set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. It has made best endeavours to
ensure that people with protected characteristics can participate in the review
process and is sufficiently satisfied that no adverse equality impacts will arise as a
result of the outcome of the review.

47

Page 83

48

Appendices
Appendix A
Draft recommendations for Lambeth Council
Ward name

Number of
councillors

Electorate
(2020)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

Electorate
(2026)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from
average %

Brixton Acre Lane

3

12,395

4,132

6%

12,151

4,050

-1%

2

Brixton North

3

11,805

3,935

1%

11,796

3,932

-3%

3

Brixton Windrush

2

7,968

3,984

3%

8,506

4,253

4%

4

Clapham
Abbeville

2

8,160

4,080

5%

8,662

4,331

6%

5

Clapham East

2

8,304

4,152

7%

8,241

4,121

1%

6

Clapham Park

3

10,477

3,492

-10%

11,708

3,903

-4%

7

Clapham West

3

12,942

4,314

11%

12,922

4,307

6%

8

Gipsy Hill

2

8,131

4,066

5%

8,294

4,147

2%

9

Herne Hill &
Loughborough
Junction

3

11,987

3,996

3%

12,119

4,040

-1%

10 Kennington

3

12,142

4,047

4%

12,365

4,122

1%

11 Knight’s Hill

3

12,119

4,040

4%

12,424

4,141

2%

49

Page 84

1

Electorate
(2020)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

Electorate
(2026)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from
average %

2

8,800

4,400

13%

8,648

4,324

6%

3

10,471

3,490

-10%

12,205

4,068

0%

14 Rosendale

2

7,842

3,921

1%

7,924

3,962

-3%

15 Rush Common

3

11,620

3,873

0%

11,595

3,865

-5%

2

6,584

3,292

-15%

8,121

4,061

0%

17 St Martin’s

2

7,978

3,989

3%

8,266

4,133

1%

18 Stockwell East

2

7,489

3,745

-4%

7,324

3,662

-10%

Ward name
12 Myatts Field
13

16

Oval & South
Lambeth

South Bank &
Waterloo

19

Stockwell West &
Larkhall

3

12,500

4,167

7%

12,453

4,151

2%

20

Streatham
Common

1

3,998

3,998

3%

4,011

4,011

-2%

21

Streatham Hill
Leigham

2

8,071

4,036

4%

8,093

4,047

-1%

22

Streatham South
West

2

8,288

4,144

7%

8,466

4,233

4%

23

Streatham St
Leonard’s

3

11,809

3,936

1%

11,832

3,944

-3%

2

7,939

3,970

2%

7,990

3,995

-2%

24 Streatham Wells

50

Page 85

Number of
councillors

Number of
councillors

Electorate
(2020)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

Electorate
(2026)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from
average %

25 Thornton

2

8,413

4,207

8%

8,363

4,182

3%

26 Vauxhall Bridge

3

6,402

2,134

-45%

12,081

4,027

-1%

Totals

63

244,634

–

–

256,560

–

–

Averages

–

–

3,883

–

–

4,072

–

Ward name

Source: Electorate figures are based on information provided by Lambeth Council.

51

Page 86

Note: The ‘variance from average’ column shows by how far, in percentage terms, the number of electors per councillor in each electoral ward
varies from the average for the borough. The minus symbol (-) denotes a lower than average number of electors. Figures have been rounded to
the nearest whole number.

Page 87

Appendix B
Outline map

52

Page 88

Number
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

Ward name
Brixton Acre Lane
Brixton North
Brixton Windrush
Clapham Abbeville
Clapham East
Clapham Park
Clapham West
Gipsy Hill
Herne Hill & Loughborough Junction
Kennington
Knight’s Hill
Myatts Field
Oval & South Lambeth
Rosendale
Rush Common
South Bank & Waterloo
St Martin’s
Stockwell East
Stockwell West & Larkhall
Streatham Common
Streatham Hill Leigham
Streatham South West
Streatham St Leonard’s
Streatham Wells
Thornton
Vauxhall Bridge

A more detailed version of this map can be seen on the large map accompanying
this report, or on our website: www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/greater-london/greaterlondon/lambeth

53

Page 89

Appendix C
Submissions received
All submissions received can also be viewed on our website at:
www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/greater-london/greater-london/lambeth
Local Authority
•

Lambeth Council

Political Groups
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dulwich & West Norwood Labour Party
Knights Hill Branch Labour Party
Lambeth Conservatives
Lambeth Council Green Party Group
Lambeth Council Labour Group
Lambeth Liberal Democrats
Streatham South Branch Labour Party

Councillors
•
•

Councillor P. Elliott (Lambeth Council)
Councillor M. Clark, Councillor M Masters and Councillor M. Seedat
(Lambeth Council)

Members of Parliament
•

Helen Hayes MP (Dulwich & West Norwood)

Local Organisations
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Albert Square & St Stephen’s Association (2)
Deronda Estate Tenants’ & Residents’ Association
Loughborough Junction Action Group
Lilford Area Residents’ Association
Norwood Action Group
Norwood Forum
South Bank Employers’ Group
Station to Station
St Leonard’s Church, Parish of Streatham
Stockwell Village Association

54

Page 90

•

Vassall & Coldharbour Forum

Local Residents
•

221 local residents

55

Page 91

Appendix D
Glossary and abbreviations
Council size

The number of councillors elected to
serve on a council

Electoral Change Order (or Order)

A legal document which implements
changes to the electoral arrangements
of a local authority

Division

A specific area of a county, defined for
electoral, administrative and
representational purposes. Eligible
electors can vote in whichever division
they are registered for the candidate or
candidates they wish to represent them
on the county council

Electoral fairness

When one elector’s vote is worth the
same as another’s

Electoral inequality

Where there is a difference between the
number of electors represented by a
councillor and the average for the local
authority

Electorate

People in the authority who are
registered to vote in elections. For the
purposes of this report, we refer
specifically to the electorate for local
government elections

Number of electors per councillor

The total number of electors in a local
authority divided by the number of
councillors

Over-represented

Where there are fewer electors per
councillor in a ward or division than the
average

Parish

A specific and defined area of land
within a single local authority enclosed
within a parish boundary. There are over
10,000 parishes in England, which
provide the first tier of representation to
their local residents

56

Page 92

Parish council

A body elected by electors in the parish
which serves and represents the area
defined by the parish boundaries. See
also ‘Town council’

Parish (or town) council electoral
arrangements

The total number of councillors on any
one parish or town council; the number,
names and boundaries of parish wards;
and the number of councillors for each
ward

Parish ward

A particular area of a parish, defined for
electoral, administrative and
representational purposes. Eligible
electors vote in whichever parish ward
they live for candidate or candidates
they wish to represent them on the
parish council

Town council

A parish council which has been given
ceremonial ‘town’ status. More
information on achieving such status
can be found at www.nalc.gov.uk

Under-represented

Where there are more electors per
councillor in a ward or division than the
average

Variance (or electoral variance)

How far the number of electors per
councillor in a ward or division varies in
percentage terms from the average

Ward

A specific area of a district or borough,
defined for electoral, administrative and
representational purposes. Eligible
electors can vote in whichever ward
they are registered for the candidate or
candidates they wish to represent them
on the district or borough council

57

Page 93

The Local Government Boundary
Commission for England (LGBCE) was set
up by Parliament, independent of
Government and political parties. It is
directly accountable to Parliament through a
committee chaired by the Speaker of the
House of Commons. It is responsible for
conducting boundary, electoral and
structural reviews of local government.

Local Government Boundary Commission for
England
1st Floor, Windsor House
50 Victoria Street, London
SW1H 0TL
Telephone: 0330 500 1525
Email: reviews@lgbce.org.uk
Online: www.lgbce.org.uk
www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk
Twitter: @LGBCE

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 95
Appendix 1 - 2020 Electorate and 2026 Projected Electorate and Proposal

Number of councillors:
Overall electorate:
Average electorate per councillor:

2020

2026

63
244,634
3,883

63
256,560
4,072

No of
Cllrs

Electorate
2020

Variance
2020

Electorate
2026

Variance 2026

Coldharbour

3

13,335

14%

13,750

13%

Herne Hill

3

12,155

4%

12,328

1%

Thurlow Park

3

10,697

-8%

10,820

-11%

Knight's Hill

3

10,818

-7%

11,107

-9%

Gipsy Hill

3

10,739

-8%

10,944

-10%

Tulse Hill
Brixton Hill
Clapham
Common
Thornton
Streatham Hill
Streatham Wells
St Leonard's
Streatham South
Bishop's
Prince's
n/a
Oval
Stockwell
Vassall
Ferndale
Larkhall
Clapham Town

3
3

12,060
12,453

4%
7%

12,282
12,319

1%
1%

3

10,513

-10%

10,995

-10%

3
3
3
3
3
3
3

10,257
11,832
11,874
11,641
10,533
7,615
12,646

-12%
2%
2%
0%
-10%
-35%
9%

11,579
11,755
11,900
11,662
10,749
9,177
13,927

-5%
-4%
-3%
-5%
-12%
-25%
14%

3
3
3
3
3
3

12,685
11,760
12,631
12,830
13,924
11,636

9%
1%
8%
10%
20%
0%

18,633
12,029
12,442
12,661
13,836
11,665

53%
-2%
2%
4%
13%
-5%

Name of ward

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 97
Appendix 2 - Lambeth’s Electorate Forecasting Methodology

Lambeth used the LGBCE Polling District Forecasting Tool to calculate a starting point for assessing
potential future changes to electorate numbers in the borough.
The tool uses ONS borough population figures of the last 3 years and compares this with the ward
electorates for the same period. Lambeth used electoral register figures for the years 2018-2020 broken
down by polling district as the baseline data for this forecasting.
A calculation is then made to project ward electorates for 2026 based on those trends with elector
distribution at ward and polling district level remaining in line with current distribution.
Although the tool does produce a possible picture of Lambeth’s electorate in 2026, we have
supplemented alternative forecasts to those provided by the LGBCE.
We have taken this approach because the standardised forecasting does not account for the
development of new properties which would yield over 30 new electors. There are numerous housing
developments planned across Lambeth between 2020 and 2026, and therefore we wanted to
supplement the figures produced by the LGBCE’s tool.
Lambeth’s Planning Strategy and Policy Team provided information about the anticipated number of
developments over the 2020-2026 period both for ‘large sites’ of over 0.25ha and for smaller sites as
around 22% of Lambeth’s housing delivery comes from small sites. The sites included in this data were
for net additional dwellings, meaning any existing housing lost through development was been factored
in.
Using a ratio of elector to dwelling at 1.6 to 1 (the ratio being devised by assessing the number of
electors on the electoral register against the number of properties on the same register) we were able to
ascertain the expected increase in electorate for each development. Only developments of over 19 units
which would therefore yield 30 electors were included.
The anticipated electorate for these developments were added to the figures generated for each polling
district by the LGBCE tool. The figures for each ward are set out in (Appendix 1).

Page 98
Problems with the population figures used by the Commission
The council wishes to express concern at the figures the Commission will be using to determine the
electoral equality across the borough. For a number of reasons we think these may now not be accurate.
It is likely that Covid and its economic aftermath will have an effect on population growth which has not
been factored into the original calculation.
The council also believes that even taking into account circumstances prior to the Covid pandemic there
may be evidence that the growth patterns in London boroughs – including LB Southwark subject of a
recent review - have not fulfilled original projections.
If the geographically varied patterns of population growth across Lambeth which make up the overall
projected increase in the electorate from 244,000 to 256,000 do not take place this is likely to once more
ensure that parts of Lambeth are overrepresented and others underrepresented.

Page 99

Appendix 3 - Current Wards Map

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 101

Appendix 4 – LGBCE Proposed Wards Map & Ward Names

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 103

Appendix 5 – Lambeth Council Proposed Wards Map & Ward Names

Page 104

